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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Junefield Department Store Group Limited (the “Company”), 

I am pleased to announce the annual results of the Company together with its subsidiaries (collectively the 

“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2012.

RESULTS

In 2012, the Group’s revenue decreased to approximately HK$208,508,000 (2011: HK$261,780,000 (restated)), 

representing a decrease of 20% compared with last year. The Group’s audited profit attributable to owners 

of the Company amounted to approximately HK$165,324,000 (2011: HK$140,144,000), representing an 

increase of 18% compared over 2011. Basic earnings per share were HK16.27 cents (2011: HK13.88 cents), 

representing an increase of 17%.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5 cents per share, together with the interim 

dividend of HK1 cent per share paid on 25 September 2012, makes a total dividend of HK2.5 cents per share 

for the year. Such proposal is subject to approval by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual 

general meeting.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2012, the Group achieved a remarkable result and its profit reached a record high. Similar to last year, the 

positive result was mainly attributed to the manufacture and sale of construction materials business and the retail 

and department store business in the PRC. However, the profit of the jointly-controlled entity merely grew 6% 

and the profit of the manufacture and sale of construction materials business even dropped by 35% compared 

to 2011 due to the keen market competitions. Given the domestic consumption and GDP growth in the PRC are 

slowing down, we are cautious on the growth of these businesses in 2013. In order to sustain the profitability of 

the manufacture and sale of construction materials business, it has taken some measures including strengthen 

the existing customer base and improvement of operational efficiency. The Group is committed to increasing the 

value for its shareholders under its current corporate strategy. To reward the ongoing support of shareholders, 

the Board continues to recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year under review.
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PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Company believes that the year of 2013 will be a milestone for the Group posing both 
challenges and opportunities. As mentioned in the 2010 interim report of the Company, the Group has 
established an investigation team to identify investment opportunities in Peru and other countries in South 
America to increase value for shareholders. In view of the steady growth of economies and robust fundamental 
in the energy sectors in some major countries across South America, the Group started to invest in this region 
through acquired 19.9% shareholdings of Latin Resources Limited and 4 small scale coal mining concessions 
in Peru during the year under review. In addition, the Group also acquired a parcel of urban land in Ecuador at 
the beginning of 2013 with a plan to develop a complex including both commercial and residential properties 
for investment and rental purposes. Notwithstanding the size of the coal mining concessions is small scale, it 
presents an excellent opportunity for the Group to start the energy business and the Company expects to carry 
out preliminary exploration in this year and commence operation on part of the concession mines in the fourth 
quarter of 2013. For the energy related security investments, the Group is of the review that the value of quality 
stocks will be reflected in the long run.

Meanwhile, the joint venture agreement of the Group’s 49%-owned jointly-controlled entity will be expired by 
the year end of 2013 after a period of 20 years’ operations since 1993. Throughout the period, the domestic 
consumption market in the PRC experienced tremendous changes which were utmost beneficial to the Group’s 
retail and department store business. The jointly-controlled entity achieved satisfactory results in recent years not 
only benefitted from the robust economic growth in the PRC but also from the friendly co-operations between 
the Group and its PRC joint venturer. The Group has commenced and will continue to negotiate with the PRC 
joint venturer about the renewal of the joint venture agreement. The Group will endeavor its best efforts to 
achieve a win-win result.

The Group aims to broaden its current income base by strengthening its existing businesses and also proactively 
exploring expansion opportunities under the growth strategies in the PRC and overseas market to increase value 
for the shareholders. Currently, the Group has a good cash flow position and low gearing ratio which enables the 
Group to seize suitable investment opportunities from time to time. In addition, to further strengthen the financial 
position, the Group will also consider raising funds by suitable means when investment opportunities arise.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all our shareholders, fellow directors, customers, 
suppliers, business associates and staff for their continuing support and contributions to the Company’s 
successful results.

Zhou Chu Jian He
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2013
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The consolidated revenue and consolidated profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 

31 December 2012 amounted to approximately HK$208,508,000 and HK$165,324,000, representing a 

corresponding decrease of 20% and increase of 18% over HK$261,780,000 (restated) and HK$140,144,000 

respectively compared to the last year under review. The Group achieved a remarkable result in 2012 and its 

profit reached a record high.

The positive result was mainly attributed to the manufacture and sale of construction materials business and the 

retail and department store business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

OPERATIONS REVIEW

CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL BUSINESS

During the year under review, the Group’s indirect 60%-owned subsidiary, Hunan Taiji Construction Material Co., 

Ltd. (“Hunan Taiji”) recorded a turnover and profits of approximately HK$176,042,000 (2011: HK$221,721,000) 

and HK$47,523,000 (2011: HK$72,999,000), representing decreases of 21% and 35% respectively compared 

to last year under review due to both the average selling price of granulated slag powder and the sales volume 

dropped by 10% and 23% respectively. During the year under review, the supply of granulated slag powder 

increased in the Xiang Zhong District of Hunan Province because some major competitors increased their 

operation capacities and the selling prices went downward because of abundance in the market supply.

Facing the increasing competitive market environment and declining demand for the granulated slag powder 

in the Xiang Zhong District of Hunan Province, Hunan Taiji has taken some measures including strengthen its 

existing customer base, exploration of new market and customers, improvement of operational efficiency and 

quick response to the market pricing changes from time to time in order to sustain its profit.

RETAIL BUSINESS IN WUHAN

The Group’s share of profit from the indirect 49%-owned jointly-controlled entity amounted to approximately 

HK$146,464,000 (2011: HK$137,829,000), representing an increase of 6% over last year under review. With 

the support of relating policies in boosting the domestic demands in the PRC market, the purchasing powers in 

Wuhan are still strong. However, amid the highly competitive sector of department store in Wuhan, the sales of 

the Group’s jointly-controlled entity rose slightly by 3% over last year under review. During the year under review, 

the Group received cash dividend of approximately HK$107,503,000 (before PRC withholding tax).

The joint venture agreement of this jointly-controlled entity will be expired by the year end of 2013 after a period 

of 20 years’ operations since 1993. The Group has commenced and will continue to negotiate with the PRC joint 

venturer about the renewal of the joint venture agreement.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (continued)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES IN BEIJING

During the year under review, the income from property leasing in Beijing, the PRC was approximately 

HK$1,748,000 (2011: HK$1,042,000), representing an increase of 68% over 2011 due to the increase in 

number of office units being let out. This sector recorded a fair value gains of approximately HK$7,280,000 

(2011: HK$8,797,000) in respect of the revaluation of investment properties and also recorded a net profit of 

approximately HK$4,385,000 (2011: HK$8,041,000), representing a significant decrease of 45% over 2011 

due to there was no profit generated from sale of properties during the year under review (2011: profit of 

HK$6,464,000). The Group expects the investment properties currently held on hand will generate a stable cash 

flow and will continue looking for potential investment properties to enlarge its property portfolio in the PRC.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AND AGENCY SERVICES BUSINESS

During the year under review, the Group’s property management business recorded a turnover of approximately 

HK$17,566,000 (2011: HK$16,378,000), representing an increase of 7% over 2011. It achieved a net profit 

of approximately HK$1,084,000 (2011: loss of HK$12,279,000). Without taking into account the mandatory 

enforcement of payments to certain claimants against the Group’s available-for-sale investment in 2011, the 

profit of this segment decreased by 38% over last year under review.

SECURITIES INVESTMENTS

During the year under review, the Group successfully held 37,700,000 fully paid ordinary shares of Latin 

Resources Limited (“Latin Resources”) by acquiring the entire equity interests of Talent Note Limited and 

through share placements. Subsequently, the Group further acquired 2,707,000 fully paid ordinary shares of 

Latin Resources in January 2013. Currently, the Group’s investment in Latin Resources shares, representing 

approximately 19.9% of the existing issued share capital of Latin Resources. Latin Resources is a mineral 

exploration company incorporated in Australia and whose shares are listed on the ASX Limited and principally 

engages in identifying and defining mineral resources in Latin America with a specific focus on Peru. This 

investment has been classified under non-current assets as available-for-sale financial assets as the Group has 

no intention to dispose of it within 12 months. An unrealised valuation loss of approximately HK$37,251,000 was 

reflected in the investments revaluation reserve.

The Group also has indirect interests in a number of other mining business related companies listing in Canada 

and Hong Kong which have been classified under current assets. During the year under review, this segment 

recorded a net realised gains of approximately HK$4,914,000 arising from the disposal and an unrealised 

valuation gains of approximately HK$8,238,000 from the Group’s trading securities. Overall, a total net realised 

and unrealised gains of approximately HK$13,152,000 was reflected in the consolidated income statement for 

the year under review.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (continued)

SECURITIES INVESTMENTS (continued)

The Group is of the view that future prospects of mineral or natural resources related sectors are promising and 
believes that investing in these mining companies will be able to generate favorable returns to the Group in a 
long run.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, 
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES

On 29 March 2012, Take Rich Investment Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered 
into the sale and purchase agreement with Junefield Mineral Resources Holdings Limited for the acquisition 
of the entire issued share capital of Talent Note Limited at a total cash consideration of HK$68,260,000.  
Junefield Mineral Resources Holdings Limited is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and indirectly 
wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He, the Chairman, executive director and controlling shareholder of the 
Company. The acquisition constituted a discloseable and connected transaction under the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). It was approved by 
the shareholders of the Company at a special general meeting held on 18 June 2012. The acquisition was duly 
completed on 21 June 2012.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associated 
companies and jointly-controlled entities during the year under review.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at  31 December 2012, the Group had net assets o f  approx imate ly HK$753,099,000  
(2011: HK$625,699,000) with total assets of approximately HK$1,049,973,000 (2011: HK$830,764,000) and 
total liabilities of approximately HK$296,874,000 (2011: HK$205,065,000). The Group’s current ratio, which 
equals to current assets divided by current liabilities, was 1.55 (2011: 1.58).

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had an outstanding bank borrowing of HK$154,822,000  
(2011: Nil). The bank loan was unsecured, denominated in United States dollars (“USD”), interest-bearing at 
floating rate and repayable for a term of 3 years. An unsecured other loan of approximately HK$6,224,000 
(2011: HK$6,173,000) is denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and interest-bearing at 9.5% per annum with no 
fixed term of repayment. The Group’s bank balances and short term deposits which were mainly denominated 
in Hong Kong dollars, USD and RMB, amounted to approximately HK$282,942,000 as at 31 December 2012  
(2011: HK$145,333,000). The Group’s gearing ratio, as a ratio of total interest-bearing borrowing and bank 
borrowing to total assets was 0.15 (2011: 0.01).

The directors believe that the Group currently has sufficient financial resources for its operations. However, the 
Group will remain cautious in its liquidity management.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and funding policies, with a focus on risk 

management and transactions that are directly related to the underlying business of the Group.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had no capital commitments (2011: Nil).

CHARGE OF ASSETS

The Group did not have any pledge or charge on assets as at 31 December 2012.

OUTSTANDING LITIGATIONS

Details of outstanding litigations are shown in note 40 to the financial statements.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

During the year under review, the business activities of the Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong 

dollars, RMB and USD. The Board does not consider that the Group is significantly exposed to any foreign 

currency exchange risk. For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group did not commit to any financial 

instruments to hedge its potential exchange rate exposure.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had about 278 employees (2011: 288) of whom 11 (2011: 11) are based 

in Hong Kong and 267 (2011: 277) based in the PRC and overseas. The number of workers employed by the 

Group varies from time to time depending on the industry need and they are remunerated under the employment 

term which is based on industry practice. The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are 

periodically reviewed by the Company’s Remuneration Committee and approved by the executive directors. 

Apart from the pension funds, discretionary bonuses and share options are awarded to certain employees 

according to the assessment of individual performance.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He, aged 49, has been the Chairman and an executive director of the Company since 

October 2003 and also the chairman of nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Zhou acted as the Managing 

Director of the Company from 2003 to 2005. He is also currently the president of Junefield (Holdings) Limited 

(“JHL”, the ultimate holding company of the Group) and is responsible for the overall business of JHL. Mr. Zhou 

serves as a member of the Beijing Committee of the People’s Political Consultative Conference（中國人民政

治協商會議北京委員會）in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). Mr. Zhou has extensive experience in 

managing property development companies and in operating department stores in the PRC. Mr. Zhou also acts 

as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Ng Man Chung, Siman, aged 49, has been an executive director of the Company since March 2007 

and is currently the deputy chairman of the Company. He is also currently the general manager of Finance 

Department of JHL. Mr. Ng has more than 20 years of experience in finance and auditing. He has been the 

proprietor of M. C. Ng & Co. CPA since 1997 and a director of Elite Partners CPA Limited since 2007. Mr. Ng 

is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of The 

Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, and a fellow member of The Taxation Institute of 

Hong Kong. Mr. Ng holds a Diploma in Business Administration from Shue Yan College and a Master of Business 

Administration Degree from The Open University of Hong Kong. Mr. Ng also acts as a director of certain 

subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Liu Zhongsheng, aged 54, has been an executive director of the Company since March 2007 and 

is currently the chief executive officer and a member of nomination committee of the Company. He is also 

currently a vice-president of JHL. Mr. Liu was a deputy secretary of Economic Affairs Department, the Liaison 

Office of the Central People’s Government in Hong Kong (formerly known as Xinhua News Agency Hong Kong 

Branch). Mr. Liu was an executive director and the general manager of Guangnan (Holdings) Limited until 

1 December 2000 and an Investment Advisor of Springridge Investment Management Limited. He holds a 

Degree in Economics and a Master Degree in Economics from Lanzhou University, the PRC, and completed an 

EMBA programme and obtained a Master Degree in EMBA from Tsinghua University, the PRC, in 2006. Mr. Liu 

also acts as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Xiang Xianhong, aged 48, has been an executive director of the Company since November 2011 and is 

the vice president of JHL since November 2008. Mr. Xiang had been the general manager of Beijing Junefield 

Sogo Department Store. Mr. Xiang has extensive experience in education, corporate management, real 

estates, retail and department store sectors. Mr. Xiang holds a Master Degree in Engineering Science from 

the Hua Zhong University of Science and Technology, the PRC and obtained a certificate of senior technical 

qualification from the Ministry of Railways, the PRC. Mr. Xiang also acts as a director of the indirect jointly-

controlled entity of the Company.

BRIEF BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Lei Shuguang, aged 49, has been an executive director of the Company since November 2011 and is 

currently the general manager of Beijing Junefield Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (indirectly-owned as to 

55% by Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He, the chairman and the controlling shareholder of the Company). Mr. Lei has 

extensive experience in financial management, auditing, energy engineering and real estates industries. Mr. Lei 

holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from the China Europe International Business School, the 

PRC, and has completed the national audit examination of the National Audit Office of the PRC. Mr. Lei also acts 

as a director of an indirect subsidiary of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose Muñiz Ziches, aged 60, has been a non-executive director of the Company since 

December 2011. He obtained his Bachelor Degree in Laws from the Pontificial Catholic University of Peru in 

1976. He is currently a Peruvian practising solicitor and is a founding partner and major partner of Estudio 

Muñiz, Ramirez, Perez-Taiman & Olaya Abogados, a solicitor firm in Peru. He has extensive experience in the 

Peruvian legal industry and is specialised in commercial law, banking and intellectual property. Mr. Muñiz Ziches 

had a few key appointments with the Ministry of Justice in Peru in relation to the law reform and legislation and 

was a member of the Peruvian Congress. He is currently the Peruvian legal consultant of JHL and, before his 

appointment, had provided independent legal services to an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in 

Peru.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Man Kit, aged 59, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since 

December 2002 and is a member of each of the audit committee and nomination committee; and the chairman 

of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Leung has over 30 years of experience in project finance 

and corporate finance. He is currently an independent non-executive director and a member of audit committee 

of NetEase, which is a NASDAQ listed company. Mr. Leung is also an executive director of Chanceton Financial 

Group Limited and an independent non-executive director of China Ting Group Holdings Limited, Orange Sky 

Golden Harvest Entertainment (Holdings) Limited and China Huiyuan Juice Group Limited, all of which are 

companies listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Leung is also 

currently a Responsible Officer of Chanceton Capital Partners Limited which provides advice on corporate 

finance under a type 6 licence granted under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong 

Kong). Mr. Leung held senior positions with Peregrine Capital (China) Limited, SG Securities (HK) Limited 

(formerly known as Crosby Securities (Hong Kong) Limited), Swiss Bank Corporation, Hong Kong Branch and 

Optima Capital Limited (formerly known as KE Capital (Hong Kong) Limited). He was a director of Emerging 

Markets Partnership (Hong Kong) Limited which was the principal adviser to the AIG Infrastructure Fund L.P. 

Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor Degree in Social Sciences from The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan Kwok Wai, aged 54, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since 

December 2002 and is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of each of the remuneration 

committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in finance and 

accounting industry. He is a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute and an associate member of the CPA 

Australia. Mr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of Chinese Estates Holdings Limited, Tern 

Properties Company Limited, China Investments Holdings Limited, National Electronics Holdings Limited and Far 

East Consortium International Limited, all being companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He 

is also currently a director of High Progress Consultants Limited. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor Degree of Business 

Administration from Monash University, Australia.

Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert, aged 57, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since 

September 2004 and is a member of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination 

committee of the Company. Mr. Lam is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 

and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants as well as a member of the Hong Kong Securities 

Institute, Society of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants, Taxation 

Institute of Hong Kong and Certified Tax Adviser. Mr. Lam is currently an independent non-executive director of 

Dragonite International Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam was the 

shareholder and director of Hopkins CPA Limited and was the proprietor of Albert Lam & Co. CPA from 1993 

to 2007. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor Degree in Arts (Economics) from the University of Manchester, the United 

Kingdom.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Cao Kuangyu, aged 62, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since January 

2013. Mr. Cao holds a Bachelor Degree in Economics from Hunan University and a Master Degree in Financial 

Management from the University of London. He has over 30 years of experience in the banking industry. Mr. Cao 

worked in the Bank of China, Hunan branch from 1981 to 1996 and his last position was the deputy general 

manager of the branch. In 1996, Mr. Cao was transferred to the Singapore branch of Bank of China as deputy 

general manager until 1999. Mr. Cao worked in Citic Bank, Shenzhen branch from 1999 to 2003 and his last 

position was the president of the branch. Mr. Cao came to Hong Kong in 2003 when he worked as managing 

director, head of global investment banking division of BOCI Asia Limited until 2007. Mr. Cao is currently an 

independent non-executive director of Dongwu Cement International Limited, Huili Resources (Group) Limited 

and JLF Investment Company Limited, all of which are companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cao 

served as a non-executive director of Continental Holdings Limited (resigned in December 2011). He also served 

as an independent non-executive director of King Stone Energy Group Limited (resigned in April 2012) and 

Simsen International Corporation Limited (resigned in June 2010) respectively, all of which are companies listed 

on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Cheung Ka Wai, aged 55, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since March 

2013. Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor Degree in Economics and a Bachelor Degree in Law from the University 

of Hong Kong. He also holds two Masters Degrees respectively in Public Administration and in Laws from the 

University of Hong Kong. Mr. Cheung has worked in various government departments for 12 years, and has over 

20 years in the practice of company law and civil litigation matters. Currently Mr. Cheung is the senior partner of 

Messrs. Kelvin Cheung & Co., Solicitors & Notaries. Mr. Cheung and his law firm have been the legal advisors 

of a number of companies listed on the Stock Exchange, asset fund management firms and non-profit making 

organizations and charities in Hong Kong.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) present their report together with the audited financial 

statements of the Company together with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended  

31 December 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

Details of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and a jointly-controlled entity are set out in notes 21 

and 22 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012 are set out in the consolidated income 

statement on page 34.

An interim dividend of HK1 cent per share for 2012 (2011: HK1 cent per share), totalling approximately 

HK$10,162,000 was paid on 25 September 2012. The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a 

final dividend of HK1.5 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: HK1.5 cents per share), 

amounting to approximately HK$15,243,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the year are 

set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of investment properties of the Group are set out on page 131.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and a jointly-controlled entity are set out in notes 21 and 22 to 

the financial statements.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 35 to the financial 

statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 37 to 

the financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 39 respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2012, the Company had retained profits available for cash distribution and/or distribution in 

specie, amounted to HK$106,452,000 of which approximately of HK$15,243,000 has been proposed as a final 

dividend for the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which 

would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last 

five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on page 132.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED 
SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 

securities during the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the shareholders of the 

Company on 29 June 2009 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to 

provide incentives to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Further 

details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

During the year under review, details of the movements of the outstanding share options granted under the 

Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Number of share options

Date of

grant

Exercisable

period

Balance

as at

1 January

2012

Granted

during

the year

Exercised

during

the year

Balance

as at

31 December

2012

Exercise

price per

share

(Note 2) (Note 2)

HK$

Directors (Note 1) 26,780,000 – – 26,780,000 0.229

Other participants  

in aggregate

6 July 2009 6 July 2009 –  

5 July 2019

17,200,000 – – 17,200,000 0.229

43,980,000 – – 43,980,000

Notes:

1. Movements of the share options granted to the directors of the Company are shown under the section headed “Directors’ 

and Chief Executives’ Interests in Securities” of this report.

2. No share options have been exercised, granted, forfeited or cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2012.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate accounted for 40% of the total 
turnover for the year and sales to the largest customer included therein accounted for 14%. Purchases from the 
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 78% of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the 
largest supplier included therein accounted for 43%.

During the year, two of the five largest suppliers are the subsidiary and fellow subsidiary of the minority 
shareholder of Hunan Taiji Construction Material Company Limited (“Hunan Taiji”), a 60%-owned subsidiary of 
the Group.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best 
knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial 
interest in the Group’s five customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Man Chung, Siman (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Liu Zhongsheng (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Xiaobing (resigned on 31 December 2012)
Mr. Xiang Xianhong
Mr. Lei Shuguang

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose Muñiz Ziches

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Man Kit
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai
Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert
Mr. Cao Kuangyu (appointed on 16 January 2013)
Mr. Cheung Ka Wai (appointed on 15 March 2013)

In accordance with the Company’s bye-law 86(2), Mr. Cao Kuangyu and Mr. Cheung Ka Wai shall retire at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with the Company’s bye-law 87, Mr. Liu Zhongsheng will retire by rotation at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting and, being eligible, shall offer himself for re-election. Mr. Leung Man Kit and 
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai will retire as directors at the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting and will 
not offer themselves for re-election.
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BRIEF BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Brief biographical details of directors of the Company are set out on pages 9 to 12 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors of the Company has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which 

is not determinable by the employing company within one year without payment of compensation (other than 

statutory compensations). Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in note 11 to the financial statements.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The continuing connected transactions of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2012 (collectively 

the “2012 Continuing Connected Transactions”) subject to annual review requirements pursuant to the Rules 

Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 

“Stock Exchange”) are set out below:

1. On 25 November 2012, Hunan Taiji and Lianyuan Logistics Co., Ltd. (“Lianyuan Logistics”) entered into 

a logistics service agreement for the services of transportation of granulated steel slag for the period 

commencing from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2012 (the “Logistics Transaction”). Lianyuan Logistics 

is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules and therefore the Logistics Transaction 

constituted a continuing connected transaction of the Group, details of which are set out in the 

Company’s circular dated 15 January 2013. The Logistics Transaction and its annual cap were approved 

by independent shareholders of the Company at a special general meeting held on 31 January 2013.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the logistics services fee charged by Lianyuan Logistics 

amounted to approximately HK$10,701,000 (VAT inclusive) or HK$9,952,000 (VAT exclusive).

2. Hunan Taiji purchased granulated steel slag from Hualing Steel Co., Ltd. (“Hualing Steel”) for its 

production. During the year under review, the terms for the supply of granulated steel slag were same 

under the supply agreement made between Hunan Taiji and Hualing Steel on 26 December 2008. Hualing 

Steel is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules and therefore the transaction of 

supply of the granulated steel slag constituted a continuing connected transaction of the Group, details of 

which are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 13 August 2012.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the purchases amounted to approximately HK$4,646,000 

(VAT inclusive) or HK$3,971,000 (VAT exclusive).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on the 2012 Continuing Connected Transactions entered 
into by the Group in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance 
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice 
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Company’s auditors have issued their unqualified 
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the 2012 Continuing Connected Transactions in 
accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the 2012 Continuing Connected 
Transactions and confirmed that the 2012 Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into (i) in 
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no 
less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate) to independent third parties; and  
(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the 
interest of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The related party transactions or continuing related party transactions (as the case may be) which did not fall 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are set out in note 41 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report and except for those set out below, no director of the Company had a 
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which 
the Company or any of its holding companies and subsidiaries was a party during the year:

Nature of 
the contract

Name of the parties 
to the contract

Duration of 
the contract

Nature of 
director’s interest

1. Tenancy agreement 
in respect of an office 
in Hong Kong

(1) the Company
(2) Junefield (Holdings) Limited  

(“JHL”)

2 years (starting from 
1 January 2011 up to 
31 December 2012)

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He is 
the beneficial owner of 
the entire issued share 
capital of JHL

2. Tenancy agreement  
in respect of offices  
in Beijing

(1) Ever Park Development Ltd 
(2) Beijing Junefield Sogo  

Department Store (as tenant)

1 January 2012 to  
30 June 2013

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He has 
control over the operations 
and financial activities of 
Beijing Junefield Sogo 
Department Store
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2012, the interests and short positions of the directors and the chief executives of the 
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations, within 
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) which were recorded in the register 
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise required to be notified 
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of 
Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) were as follows:

(a) LONG POSITION IN SHARES

Name of director
Number of 

shares held

Percentage of 
the Company’s 

issued share capital

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He 697,837,417 (Note) 68.67
Mr. Ng Man Chung, Siman 7,008,000 0.69
Mr. Zhang Xiaobing (resigned on 31 December 2012) 5,000,000 0.49
Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert 1,700,000 0.17
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai 1,000,000 0.10
Mr. Leung Man Kit 266,000 0.03

Note: These 697,837,417 shares are held by Prime Century Investments Limited (“PCI”), a company wholly-owned by JHL. 

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of JHL.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES 
(continued)

(b) LONG POSITION IN UNDERLYING SHARES – SHARE OPTIONS

The following directors of the Company have personal interests in options to subscribe for shares of the 

Company:

Number of share options

Balance Balance

as at Granted Exercised as at Exercise

Date of Exercisable 1 January during during 31 December price per

Name grant period 2012 the year the year 2012 share

HK$

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He 6 July 2009 6 July 2009 –  

5 July 2019

9,980,000 – – 9,980,000 0.229

Mr. Liu Zhongsheng 6 July 2009 6 July 2009 –  

5 July 2019

5,000,000 – – 5,000,000 0.229

Mr. Leung Man Kit 6 July 2009 6 July 2009 –  

5 July 2019

4,500,000 – – 4,500,000 0.229

Mr. Chan Kwok Wai 6 July 2009 6 July 2009 –  

5 July 2019

4,000,000 – – 4,000,000 0.229

Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert 6 July 2009 6 July 2009 –  

5 July 2019

3,300,000 – – 3,300,000 0.229

26,780,000 – – 26,780,000

Note: The cash consideration paid by each of the directors for the grant of share option is HK$1.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, so far as is known to the directors and the chief 

executives of the Company, no other person had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying 

shares and debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 

XV of the SFO), which were recorded in the register as required to be kept by the Company under section 

352 of the SFO or as otherwise pursuant to the Model Code, notified to the Company and the Stock 

Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2012, so far as is known to the directors and the chief executives of the Company, the 

interests or short positions of the persons (other than directors or chief executives of the Company) in the shares 

and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under 

section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name Capacity and nature of interest

Number of 

shares held

Percentage of 

the Company’s 

issued share 

capital

PCI (Note) Directly beneficially owned 697,837,417 68.67

JHL (Note) Through a controlled corporation 697,837,417 68.67

Note: These 697,837,417 shares are held by PCI, a company wholly-owned by JHL. Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He is the beneficial owner 

of the entire issued share capital of JHL.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, the Company had not been notified of any person (other 

than the directors or chief executives of the Company) having any interests or short positions in the shares and 

underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 

336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as the interests disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in Securities” 

above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or 

debentures of the Company granted to any director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any 

such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its holding companies and subsidiaries a party to 

any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, during the year ended 31 December 2012, the following director of 

the Company was considered to have interests in the following businesses which competed or were likely to 

compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES (continued)

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He, the chairman and the substantial shareholder of the Company, currently engages in 
businesses including property management and agency services, properties investment and consultancy 
services for retail business through a number of private companies (collectively the “Private Group”).

In the event that there are transactions between the Private Group and the Company, Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He, as 
and when required under the Company’s bye-laws, will abstain from voting on any board resolution in respect of 
any contract, arrangement, or proposal in which he or any of his associates has a material interest.

As the Board is independent from the board of directors of the Private Group and maintains no less than three 
independent non-executive directors, the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at 
an arm’s length from, the businesses of the Private Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the 
Company, as at the date of this report, at least 25% of the total issued share capital of the Company was held 
by the public as required under the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Corporate Governance Report of the Company is set out on pages 23 to 31 of this report.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will 
expire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting. 
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng, the former auditors of the Company, retired at the annual general meeting of the 
Company held on 25 May 2012.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Ng Man Chung, Siman
Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2013
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

 

 

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate governance practices. The Company 

has adopted all the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as stated in the Corporate Governance Code 

(the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) 

on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

For the year under review, the Company has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices 

(effective until 31 March 2012) and all the Code Provisions (effective from 1 April 2012) as set out in Appendix 14 

to the Listing Rules except for the following deviations:

1. Under code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code effective from April 2012, the management should provide 

all board members with monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the 

issuer’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail. There are two occasions that the monthly 

updates were unable to deliver due to sudden workload.

2. Under code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the board should attend the annual general 

meeting. The chairman of the board of the Company (the “Board”) did not attend the annual general 

meeting of the Company held on 25 May 2012 ("2012 AGM") due to other business engagement. The 

Chief Executive Officer, the chairman of the Audit Committee and the chairman of the Remuneration 

Committee were present at the 2012 AGM to answer the shareholders’ questions.

3.  Under code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, the Non-Executive Director was unable to attend the 

2012 AGM due to other commitment. In addition, the Non-Executive Director and an Independent 

non-executive director were unable to attend the Company’s special general meeting held on  

18 June 2012 (“SGM”) due to other commitments.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers 

(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding the 

Directors’ securities transactions. The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors whether they have 

complied with the Model Code and all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code 

throughout the year ended 31 December 2012.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises eleven Directors and is of the opinion that it has a balance of skill and experience 

based on the following composition:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He (Chairman)

Mr. Ng Man Chung, Siman (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Liu Zhongsheng (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Xiang Xianhong

Mr. Lei Shuguang

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose Muñiz Ziches

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Man Kit

Mr. Chan Kwok Wai

Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert

Mr. Cao Kuangyu

Mr. Cheung Ka Wai

Most of the Independent Non-Executive Directors possess appropriate professional qualification and/

or experience in accounting and/or related financial management expertise. Throughout the year ended  

31 December 2012, the Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. Each 

Non-Executive Director or Independent Non-Executive Director has entered into a service contract with the 

Company for a period of two years or less until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions specified 

therein.

The brief biographical details of each Director are set out on pages 9 to 12 of this annual report. Save as 

disclosed above, there are no other relationship (including financial, business, family or other material or relevant 

relationships) among members of the Board and also between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The regular Board meetings are scheduled to be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly 

intervals and additional meetings are held as and when the Board thinks appropriate. Board meetings involve 

active participation, either in person or through other electronic means of communication, of a majority of 

Directors. During the year, the Board has held four regular Board meetings at about quarterly intervals. Details 

of Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings, committee meetings, the 2012 AGM and the SGM in the year 

2012 are set out below:

Meetings Attended/Held

Directors Board

Audit 

Committee

Nomination 

Committee

Remuneration 

Committee 2012 AGM SGM

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He 3/4 – 0/1 – 0/1 0/1

Mr. Ng Man Chung, Siman 4/4 – – – 0/1 1/1

Mr. Liu Zhongsheng 4/4 – 1/1 – 1/1 0/1

Mr. Zhang Xiaobing 4/4 – – – 1/1 1/1

Mr. Xiang Xianhong 4/4 – – – 0/1 1/1

Mr. Lei Shuguang 4/4 – – – 1/1 1/1

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose Muñiz Ziches 3/4 – – – 0/1 0/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Man Kit 3/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1 0/1

Mr. Chan Kwok Wai 4/4 2/2 0/1 1/1 1/1 1/1

Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert 4/4 2/2 0/1 1/1 1/1 1/1

Notice of at least 14 days is given to all Directors in advance for regular Board meetings. For other Board 

meetings, reasonable notice period is given. Meeting agendas and other relevant information are normally 

provided to the Directors at least 3 days in advance of the Board meetings. All Directors are consulted to include 

additional matters in the agenda for Board meetings.

The company secretary is responsible for keeping minutes of all Board and Board committee meetings which 

are recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered. Both draft and final versions of the minutes are 

sent to all Directors for their comments and records. Directors have access to the advice and services of the 

company secretary who is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board meeting procedures are followed. 

The company secretary will arrange induction package covering regulatory obligations for each newly appointed 

Director.
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DIRECTORS’ COMMITMENTS

The Company has received confirmation from each Director that he has given sufficient time and attention to 

the affairs of the Company for the year 2012. No Executive Directors hold any directorship in any other public 

companies. In respect of those Directors who stand for re-election at the coming annual general meeting, all 

their directorships held in listed public companies in the past three years are set out in the notice thereof.

The Company encourages the participation of ongoing professional trainings by individual Directors at 

the Company’s expenses and has circulated training materials including legal and regulatory update and 

seminar handouts relating to amendments of the Listing Rules, inside information and directors’ duties and 

responsibilities to all Directors during the year 2012. The training participation by individual Directors during the 

year 2012 is recorded as below:

Reading 
legal and 

regulatory 
updates

Attending 
seminars/

briefings

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He ✓

Mr. Ng Man Chung, Siman ✓ ✓

Mr. Liu Zhongsheng ✓ ✓

Mr. Zhang Xiaobing ✓

Mr. Xiang Xianhong ✓ ✓

Mr. Lei Shuguang ✓

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose Muñiz Ziches ✓ ✓

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Leung Man Kit ✓ ✓

Mr. Chan Kwok Wai ✓ ✓

Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert ✓ ✓
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

On top of the regulatory and statutory responsibilities, the main duties of the Board include formulating strategy 

as well as monitoring and controlling operating and financial performance of the Group. The Board is also 

responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible 

and effective manner. All Directors (including Independent Non-Executive Directors) have been consulted on 

major and material matters of the Company and have made active contribution to the affairs of the Board. All 

Directors are aware of their collective and individual responsibilities to the shareholders of the Company and are 

committed to act in good faith and make decisions in the best interests of both the Group and the shareholders 

of the Company. The Board delegates day-to-day management of the businesses of the Group to the chief 

executive officer and the management of the relevant principal divisions. Audit Committee, Remuneration 

Committee and Nomination Committee have been set up to assist the Board in discharge of its duties and 

to oversee particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. All Committees have specific functions and authority to 

examine issues and report to the Board with their recommendations. The final decisions are rested with the 

Board, unless otherwise provided in terms of reference of the relevant Committees.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions as set out in the code provision 

D.3.1 of the CG Code and has adopted the latest corporate governance code manual (including continuous 

professional development of directors, the compliance of the Model Code, etc) and employee whistleblowing 

guidelines since March 2012. The records under the manual have been maintained by the company secretary.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN PREPARING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities, with the support from the finance department of the Company, 

to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012 that give 

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and ensure that the preparation of the accounts is in 

accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Board was not aware of any 

material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. The Board has prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern 

basis. The statement of the auditors of the Company regarding their reporting responsibilities for the financial 

statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 32 to 33 of this annual report.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The role of the chairman of the board and the chief executive officer are segregated and are not exercised by the 
same individual. Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He is the Chairman and is responsible for the leadership and the effective 
operation of the Board. Mr. Liu Zhongsheng is the Chief Executive Officer and is responsible for the management 
of the Group’s businesses in all aspects effectively, the implementation of the strategies approved by the Board 
and assuming full accountability to the Board for the operations of the Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Independent Non-Executive Directors serve the relevant function of bringing independent judgment on the 

development, performance and risk management of the Group. Their presence and participation also enable 

the Board to maintain high standards of compliance in financial and other mandatory reporting requirements, 

and provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company and 

the Company. Each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has been appointed for a term of two years or 

less and subject to retirement by rotation at annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election. Each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has made an annual confirmation of independence 

pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent Non-Executive 

Directors met the independent guideline as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent. The 

Independent Non-Executive Directors are explicitly identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s Nomination Committee was set up on 29 March 2012 to review and make recommendations 

for new candidates to the Board. The Nomination Committee comprises two Executive Directors  

(Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He (Chairman of the Nomination Committee) and Mr. Liu Zhongsheng) and three 

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Mr. Leung Man Kit, Mr. Chan Kwok Wai and Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert). 

The Nomination Committee will assist and review new candidates based on their skills, experience and who, in 

its opinion, were able to make positive contribution to the performance of the Board. The terms of reference of 

the Nomination Committee are available on the Company’s website.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

During 2012, the Nomination Committee held one meeting, with 100% attendance of its members, to review 
the Board’s structure, size and composition to ensure that it has a balance of knowledge and experience 
appropriate to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. In accordance with the bye-laws of the 
Company, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time (or, if their number is not a 
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided 
that every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at 
least once every three years. The Directors shall have the power to appoint any person as a director either to fill 
a casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to authorization by the members in general meeting, as an addition 
to the existing Board but so that the number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed any maximum number 
determined by the members in that general meeting. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office 
only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at 
that meeting. All the two new Directors appointed in 2013 are going to retire and eligible for re-election at the 
coming annual general meeting.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 15 July 2005. The Remuneration Committee 
comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Man Kit, Mr. Chan Kwok Wai and 
Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert. Mr. Leung Man Kit is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The principle 
responsibility of the Remuneration Committee includes making recommendation to the Board on the Company’s 
policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and senior management and reviewing the specific 
remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior management by reference to corporate goals and 
objectives resolved by the Board. The remuneration of Directors are based on the skill and contribution in the 
Company’s affairs and are determined by reference to duties and responsibilities of the Executive Directors after 
considering the Group’s performance and the prevailing market situations including salaries paid by comparable 
companies. No Director is involved in determining his own remuneration. The terms of reference of the 
Remuneration Committee are available at the Company’s website. During 2012, the Remuneration Committee 
held one meeting with 100% attendance of its members and performed its duties in accordance with its terms of 
reference and reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors and remuneration policies to the Board. The 
remuneration paid to each Director for 2012 are shown in note 11 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The external auditors of the Company are HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited and provided services to the 
Company in respect of the audit of Company’s financial statements which were prepared in accordance 
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance for the year ended 31 December 2012. The fee in respect of audit service provided by 
the external auditors to the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012 was approximately HK$670,000 
(2011: HK$604,000). The fees paid to the external auditors for non-audit services were HK$135,000 
(2011: HK$130,000).
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 10 November 1999 with written terms of reference. The 
Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kwok Wai, 
Mr. Leung Man Kit and Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert, and is chaired by Mr. Chan Kwok Wai. Most members of 
the Audit Committee possess appropriate professional qualifications and/or experience in accounting and/or 
related financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Company has 
complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the 
Company’s website.

The Audit Committee held two meetings in 2012 with 100% attendance of its members. During the year, 
the Audit Committee provided accounting and financial advices and recommendations to the Board as well 
as reviewed the independence of external auditors and relevant auditing matters. Also, the Audit Committee 
reviewed the internal control system of the Group and transactions with connected persons and the caps for 
continuing connected transactions. The Group’s unaudited interim results for the six months ended 30 June 
2012 and audited annual results for the year ended 31 December 2012 have been reviewed by the Audit 
Committee which was of the opinion that the preparation of the relevant financial statements complied with the 
applicable accounting standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure has been made.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the company secretary attended relevant professional training for not 
less than 15 hours.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for the establishment and maintenance of an adequate and effective 
internal control system to safeguard the Group’s assets against unauthorized use or disposition, and to protect 
the interest of shareholders of the Company. Furthermore, the internal control system is designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The Group has in place an effective internal control system which encompasses sound control environment, 
appropriate segregation of duties, well-defined policies and procedures, close monitoring and is reviewed and 
enhanced by the management at regular intervals.

The Group is committed to maintaining and upholding good corporate governance practices and internal 
control system. In respect of the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group (excluding the 49% jointly-
controlled entity, Wuhan Plaza Management Co., Ltd.) has performed annual review on the effectiveness of the 
internal control system through its management and also engaged external consultants to conduct an annual 
review of manufacture and sale of construction materials business segment in Hunan, the PRC and make 
recommendations for improvement and strengthening of its internal control system. Based on the reports on the 
findings from the management and external consultants, the Board was satisfied that the Group has operated an 
effective internal control system.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws, a special general meeting may be convened by the Board upon requisition 
by any shareholder holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share capital of the Company and the securities 
being held carrying the right of voting at any general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall make 
a written requisition to the Board or the company secretary at the Company’s head office and principal place 
of business at 13/F., Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, 
specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal regarding any 
specified transaction/business and its supporting documents.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT A GENERAL MEETING

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the company secretary at the Company’s head 
office and principal place of business at 13/F., Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, 
Wanchai, Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her contact details and the 
proposal he/she intends to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified transaction/business and its 
supporting documents.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing through the company 
secretary at the Company’s head office and principal place of business at 13/F., Bank of East Asia Harbour View 
Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the 
general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There are no significant changes in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 
31 December 2012.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Directors are aware of the importance of maintaining good relations and communications with shareholders 
of the Company. The Company continues to promote and enhance investor relations and communication with 
its investors. The Company uses a range of communication tools, such as annual general meetings, annual and 
interim reports, various notices, announcements and circulars etc, to ensure its shareholders are kept informed 
of the Company’s information.

The Company has maintained a website at http://junefield.etnet.com.hk, which serves as a platform for 
corporate communications with its shareholders and the general public. All corporate communications required 
under the Listing Rules are displayed (for documents published in the previous 5 years) on the Company’s 
website, which has established procedures to ensure timely update in compliance with the Listing Rules. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

JUNEFIELD DEPARTMENT STORE GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Junefield Department Store Group Limited (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 34 to 130, which 

comprise the consolidated and company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2012, and the 

consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a 

summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 

give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and 

to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of 

Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 

person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 

Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we 

comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 

Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2012, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year 

then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in 

accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

Chartered Accountants

Certified Public Accountants

Hui Chun Keung, David

Practicing Certificate Number: P05447

Hong Kong, 28 March 2013
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2012

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2012 2011

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Revenue 8 208,508 261,780

Cost of sales and services (96,371) (141,231)

Gross profit 112,137 120,549

Other income 8 2,925 4,808

Selling and distribution expenses (1,514) (1,678)

Administrative expenses (49,001) (41,385)

Other operating expenses (12,657) (26,366)

Fair value gains on investment properties 18 7,280 8,797

Operating profit 9 59,170 64,725

Finance costs 10 (1,297) (8,401)

Share of profit of a jointly-controlled entity 22 146,464 137,829

Profit before tax 204,337 194,153

Income tax expense 13 (19,472) (30,826)

Profit for the year 184,865 163,327

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 165,324 140,144

Non-controlling interests 19,541 23,183

184,865 163,327

Earnings per share attributable to  

owners of the Company 16

Basic HK16.27 cents HK13.88 cents

Diluted HK15.94 cents HK13.44 cents

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2012

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit for the year 184,865 163,327

Other comprehensive income

Change in fair value of available-for-sale investments (37,251) –

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 5,191 18,558

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (32,060) 18,558

Total comprehensive income for the year 152,805 181,885

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 132,022 152,737

Non-controlling interests 20,783 29,148

152,805 181,885
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2012

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2012 2011

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 17 235,592 250,328

Investment properties 18 47,765 40,332

Prepaid land lease payments 19 24,450 24,811

Other intangible assets 20 152,048 147,879

Investment in a jointly-controlled entity 22 187,957 148,996

Available-for-sale investments 23 48,448 –

Total non-current assets 696,260 612,346

Current assets

Inventories 24 3,353 4,202

Accounts receivable 25 11,920 31,054

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 26 17,257 6,435

Amount due from a jointly-controlled entity 22 45 4,502

Amounts due from related companies 27 11,720 11,549

Equity investments at fair value through  

profit or loss 29 26,476 15,343

Time deposits 30 162,518 116,055

Cash and bank balances 30 120,424 29,278

Total current assets 353,713 218,418

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 31 3,541 7,441

Other payables and accruals 32 52,256 90,237

Amount due to the ultimate holding company 28 29 27

Amounts due to related companies 28 6,089 3,777

Amount due to a joint venturer 28 19 19

Dividend payable to non-controlling interests – 25,143

Tax payable 4,936 5,286

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 33 161,046 6,173

Total current liabilities 227,916 138,103

Net current assets 125,797 80,315

Total assets less current liabilities 822,057 692,661
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2012 2011

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 34 68,958 66,962

Total non-current liabilities 68,958 66,962

Net assets 753,099 625,699

Equity

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Issued capital 35 101,617 101,617

Reserves 37 511,888 405,271

613,505 506,888

Non-controlling interests 139,594 118,811

Total equity 753,099 625,699

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2013 

and are signed on its behalf by:

Ng Man Chung, Siman Liu Zhongsheng

Director Director
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2012

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2012 2011
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 17 120 124
Investments in subsidiaries 21 2,016 2,016

Total non-current assets 2,136 2,140

Current assets
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 26 504 494
Amounts due from subsidiaries 21 255,352 179,718
Equity investments at fair value through  

profit or loss 29 3,213 3,745
Time deposits 30 154,822 72,046
Cash and bank balances 30 53,333 3,385

Total current assets 467,224 259,388

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 32 8,284 9,586
Amount due to the ultimate holding company 28 29 27
Amount due to a related company 28 187 887
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 33 161,046 6,173

Total current liabilities 169,546 16,673

Net current assets 297,678 242,715

Total assets less current liabilities 299,814 244,855

Net assets 299,814 244,855

Equity
Equity attributable to owners of  

the Company
Issued capital 35 101,617 101,617
Reserves 37 198,197 143,238

Total equity 299,814 244,855

Ng Man Chung, Siman Liu Zhongsheng

Director Director
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Issued 
capital

Share 
premium 
account

Capital 
reserve

Statutory 
surplus 
reserve

Share 
option 

reserve

Investments
revaluation 

reserve

Exchange 
fluctuation 

reserve
Retained 

profits

Proposed 
final 

dividend Total

Non- 
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 35) (Note 37) (Note 37) (Note 37)

At 1 January 2011 100,247 67,480 19,170 5,834 7,266 – 3,996 157,310 15,037 376,340 112,536 488,876

Comprehensive income
Profit or loss – – – – – – – 140,144 – 140,144 23,183 163,327

Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on  

translation of foreign operations – – – – – – 12,593 – – 12,593 5,965 18,558

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – – – – 12,593 140,144 – 152,737 29,148 181,885

Issue of shares upon exercise  
of share options 36 1,370 3,493 – – (1,726) – – – – 3,137 – 3,137

Share issue expenses 36 – (11) – – – – – – – (11) – (11)
Dividends payable to non-controlling 

interests – – – – – – – – – – (22,873) (22,873)
Final 2010 dividend paid – – – – – – – – (15,153) (15,153) – (15,153)
Interim 2011 dividend paid 14 – – – – – – – (10,162) – (10,162) – (10,162)
Proposed final 2011 dividend 14 – – – – – – – (15,243) 15,243 – – –
Transfer from retained profits – – – 5,673 – – – (5,789) 116 – – –

At 31 December 2011 101,617 70,962 19,170 11,507 5,540 – 16,589 266,260 15,243 506,888 118,811 625,699

At 1 January 2012 101,617 70,962 19,170 11,507 5,540 – 16,589 266,260 15,243 506,888 118,811 625,699

Comprehensive income
Profit or loss – – – – – – – 165,324 – 165,324 19,541 184,865

Other comprehensive income
Loss on fair value changes of 

available-for-sale investments – – – – – (37,251) – – – (37,251) – (37,251)
Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations – – – – – – 3,949 – – 3,949 1,242 5,191

Total comprehensive income for 
the year – – – – – (37,251) 3,949 165,324 – 132,022 20,783 152,805

Final 2011 dividend paid 14 – – – – – – – – (15,243) (15,243) – (15,243)
Interim 2012 dividend paid 14 – – – – – – – (10,162) – (10,162) – (10,162)
Proposed final 2012 dividend 14 – – – – – – – (15,243) 15,243 – – –
Transfer from retained profits – – – 4,017 – – – (4,017) – – – –

At 31 December 2012 101,617 70,962 19,170 15,524 5,540 (37,251) 20,538 402,162 15,243 613,505 139,594 753,099

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2012

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2012

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2012 2011
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 204,337 194,153
Adjustments for:

Finance costs 10 1,297 8,401
Share of profit of a jointly-controlled entity 22 (146,464) (137,829)
Bank interest income 8 (1,284) (1,219)
Reversal of impairment of accounts receivable 8 – (24)
Fair value (gains)/losses, net:

Equity investments at fair value through  
profit or loss – held for trading (13,152) 5,355

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9 24,077 21,964
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 19 549 537
Amortisation of other intangible assets 20 12,638 12,345
Impairment of accounts receivable 19 –
Changes in fair value of investment properties 18 (7,280) (8,797)

74,737 94,886
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 849 (122)
Decrease in equity investments at fair value 

through profit or loss 2,019 –
Decrease in properties held for sale – 20,898
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable 19,115 (25,100)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and 

other receivables (10,822) 5,448
Decrease in amount due from a jointly-controlled 

entity 4,457 2,224
Decrease in amount due from a joint venturer – 2,464
Increase in amounts due from related companies (171) (2,311)
Decrease in accounts payable (3,900) (1,873)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and 

accruals (37,981) 10,273
Increase in amounts due to related companies 2,312 780

Cash generated from operations 50,615 107,567
Bank interest received 1,284 1,219
Overseas tax refunded 2,716 –
Hong Kong profits tax paid (97) (193)
Overseas tax paid (19,676) (10,003)

Net cash flows from operating activities 34,842 98,590
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2012 2011
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Dividend received from a jointly-controlled entity 106,701 65,135
Purchases of items of property, plant and 

equipment (4,567) (23,173)
Payment for prepaid land lease payments – (1,803)
Additions to other intangible assets (15,298) –
Acquisition of subsidiaries 38 (68,237) –
Purchases of available-for-sale investments (17,186) –
Decrease in short-term time deposits 36,313 32,148

Net cash flows from investing activities 37,726 72,307

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares – 3,137
Share issurance expenses 35 – (11)
Repayment of amount due to the ultimate  

holding company (274) (4)
Dividends paid (25,405) (25,315)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (25,143) –
New interest-bearing bank borrowings 154,822 –
Repayment of interest-bearing bank borrowings – (90,180)
Interest paid and financial guarantee expenses (1,297) (8,401)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing 
activities 102,703 (120,774)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND  
CASH EQUIVALENTS 175,271 50,123

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 101,324 48,669
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (1,349) 2,532

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
AT END OF YEAR 275,246 101,324

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 30 120,424 29,278
Non-pledged time deposits with original  

maturity of less than three months  
when acquired 154,822 72,046

Cash and cash equivalents as stated  
in statement of cash flows 275,246 101,324
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2012

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Junefield Department Store Group Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in Bermuda with limited 

liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). 

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company are 

disclosed in the corporate information section on page 2 of this annual report.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were involved in 

the following principal activities:

• property investment;

• provision of property management and agency services;

• manufacture and sale of construction materials; and

• securities investments.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company of the Company is Prime Century 

Investments Limited (“PCI”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and the ultimate holding 

company of the Company is Junefield (Holdings) Limited (“JHL”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 

Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong 

Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical 

cost convention, except for investment properties, financial instruments and equity investments, which 

have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all 

values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2012. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are 

prepared for the same reporting period as the Company. Adjustments are made to bring into line any 

dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date 

of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until 

the date that such control ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses 

resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that 

results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 

transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities 

of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation 

differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair 

value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share 

of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or 

retained profits, as appropriate.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial 

statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong 

Financial Reporting Standards – Severe Hyperinflation and  

Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets

HKAS 12 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes – Deferred Tax: 

Recovery of Underlying Assets
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of HKAS 12, the adoption of the revised 

HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these financial statements.

The HKAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination of deferred tax for investment property measured 

at fair value and introduce a rebuttable presumption that deferred tax on investment property measured 

at fair value should be determined on the basis that its carrying amount will be recovered through sale. 

Furthermore, the amendments incorporate the requirement previously in HK(SIC)-Int 21 Income Taxes – 

Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets, measured 

using the revaluation model in HKAS 16, should always be measured on a sale basis. The presumption 

that deferred tax on investment property measured at fair value should be determined on the basis 

that its carrying amount will be recovered through sale has been rebutted by the Group as the Group’s 

investment properties are held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all 

of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through sale. 

Accordingly deferred tax has been determined on the basis of recovery through use. The adoption of the 

amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Certain comparative amounts of the consolidated income statement have been reclassified and restated 

to conform with current year’s presentation as the Group has introduced an additional reportable 

operating segment regarding securities investments during the year. Accordingly, fair value losses on 

equity investments at fair value through profit or loss (held for trading) of approximately HK$5,355,000 for 

the year ended 31 December 2011, which was previously presented on the face of consolidated income 

statement, have been reclassified and included in the revenue of the consolidated income statement.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS 

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet 

effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong 

Financial Reporting Standards – Government Loans2

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

– Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities2

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments4

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements2

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements2

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities2

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 

and HKFRS 12 Amendments

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 

– Transition Guidance2

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 

and HKAS 27 (2011) 

Amendments

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011) 

– Investment Entities3

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement2

HKAS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

– Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income1

HKAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits 2

HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements2

HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures2

HKAS 32 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 

– Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities3

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine2

Annual Improvements  

2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued in June 20122

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require an entity to disclose information about rights to set-off and related 

arrangements (e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide users with information 

that is useful in evaluating the effect of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The 

new disclosures are required for all recognised financial instruments that are set off in accordance 

with HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also apply to recognised financial 

instruments that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement, 

irrespective of whether they are set off in accordance with HKAS 32. The Group expects to adopt the 

amendments from 1 January 2013.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely 

replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses on the 

classification and measurement of financial assets. Instead of classifying financial assets into four 

categories, an entity shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured at either amortised cost 

or fair value, on the basis of both the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and 

the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. This aims to improve and simplify the 

approach for the classification and measurement of financial assets compared with the requirements of 

HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the 

“Additions”) and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles of financial instruments of 

HKAS 39. Most of the Additions were carried forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were 

made to the measurement of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss using the 

fair value option (“FVO”). For these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair value of a liability that 

is attributable to changes in credit risk must be presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The 

remainder of the change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value 

change in respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in 

profit or loss. However, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts which have been designated 

under the FVO are scoped out of these Additions.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance 

in HKAS 39 on hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets continues to apply. The Group 

expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2015. The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction 

with other phases, when the final standard including all phases is issued. The Group anticipates that 

the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future may have significant impact on amounts reported in respect 

of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities. Regarding the Group’s financial assets, it is not 

practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review has been completed.

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all entities including special purpose entities 

or structured entities. It includes a new definition of control which is used to determine which entities 

are consolidated. The changes introduced by HKFRS 10 require management of the Group to exercise 

significant judgement to determine which entities are controlled, compared with the requirements in HKAS 

27 and HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 

27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting for consolidated 

financial statements. It also addresses the issues raised in HK(SIC)-Int 12. Based on the preliminary 

analyses performed, HKFRS 10 is not expected to have any impact on the currently held investments of 

the Group.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled 

Entities – Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. It describes the accounting for joint arrangements 

with joint control. It addresses only two forms of joint arrangements, i.e., joint operations and joint 

ventures, and removes the option to account for joint ventures using proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and 

structured entities that are previously included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 

Statements , HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates. It also 

introduces a number of new disclosure requirements for these entities.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

In July 2012, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 which clarify 

the transition guidance in HKFRS 10 and provide further relief from full retrospective application of these 

standards, limiting the requirement to provide adjusted comparative information to only the preceding 

comparative period. The amendments clarify that retrospective adjustments are only required if the 

consolidation conclusion as to which entities are controlled by the Group is different between HKFRS 10 

and HKAS 27 or HK(SIC)-Int 12 at the beginning of the annual period in which HKFRS 10 is applied for 

the first time. Furthermore, for disclosures related to unconsolidated structured entities, the amendments 

will remove the requirement to present comparative information for periods before HKFRS 12 is first 

applied.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 issued in December 2012 include a definition of an investment entity and 

provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the definition of an investment 

entity. Investment entities are required to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss in 

accordance with HKFRS 9 rather than consolidate them. Consequential amendments were made to 

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011). The amendments to HKFRS 12 also set out the disclosure requirements 

for investment entities. The Group expects that these amendments will not have any impact on the Group 

as the Company is not an investment entity as defined in HKFRS 10.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27 and HKAS 28 as a result of the issuance of 

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, 

HKAS 27 (2011), HKAS 28 (2011), and the subsequent amendments to these standards issued in July 

and December 2012 from 1 January 2013.

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and 

disclosure requirements for use across HKFRSs. The standard does not change the circumstances 

in which the Group is required to use fair value, but provides guidance on how fair value should be 

applied where its use is already required or permitted under other HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt 

HKFRS 13 prospectively from 1 January 2013.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of items presented in OCI. Items that could be 

reclassified (or recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, net gain on hedge of a net 

investment, exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net movement on cash flow hedges 

and net loss or gain on available-for-sale financial assets) would be presented separately from items which 

will never be reclassified (for example, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans and revaluation 

of land and buildings). The amendments will affect presentation only and have no impact on the financial 

position or performance. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2013.

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that range from fundamental changes to simple 

clarifications and re-wording. The revised standard introduces significant changes in the accounting for 

defined benefit pension plans including removing the choice to defer the recognition of actuarial gains 

and losses. Other changes include modifications to the timing of recognition for termination benefits, 

the classification of short-term employee benefits and disclosures of defined benefit plans. The Group 

expects to adopt HKAS 19 (2011) from 1 January 2013. The Group expects that this revised standard 

will have no significant effect on how the results and financial position of the Group are prepared and 

presented.

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to setoff” 

for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. The amendments also clarify the application of the 

offsetting criteria in HKAS 32 to settlement systems (such as central clearing house systems) which apply 

gross settlement mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The amendments are not expected to have any 

impact on the financial position or performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 January 2014.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle issued in June 2012 sets out amendments to 

a number of HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2013. There are 

separate transitional provisions for each standard. While the adoption of some of the amendments may 

result in changes in accounting policies, none of these amendments are expected to have a significant 

financial impact on the Group. Those amendments that are expected to have a significant impact on the 

Group’s policies are as follows:

(a) HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies the difference between voluntary additional 

comparative information and the minimum required comparative information. Generally, the 

minimum required comparative period is the previous period. An entity must include comparative 

information in the related notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily provides comparative 

information beyond the previous period. The additional comparative information does not need to 

contain a complete set of financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that the opening statement of financial position as at the 

beginning of the preceding period must be presented when an entity changes its accounting 

policies; makes retrospective restatements or makes reclassifications, and that change has a 

material effect on the statement of financial position. However, the related notes to the opening 

statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period are not required to be 

presented.

(b) HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation: Clarifies that income taxes arising from distributions 

to equity holders are accounted for in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes. The amendment 

removes existing income tax requirements from HKAS 32 and requires entities to apply the 

requirements in HKAS 12 to any income tax arising from distributions to equity holders.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, 

so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends 

received and receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any 

impairment losses.

JOINT VENTURES

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties 

undertake an economic activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which the Group and 

the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture 

parties, the duration of the joint venture and the basis on which the assets are to be realised upon its 

dissolution. The profits and losses from the joint venture’s operations and any distributions of surplus 

assets are shared by the venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital contributions, or in 

accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have unilateral control, but has joint control, directly 

or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly, 

generally not less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and is in a position to exercise 

significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or 

indirectly, less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and has neither joint control of, nor 

is in a position to exercise significant influence over, the joint venture.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to joint control, resulting in none of the 

participating parties having unilateral control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group’s investments in jointly-controlled entities are stated in the consolidated statement of financial 

position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment 

losses. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of jointly-controlled entities is 

included in the consolidated income statement and consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains 

and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its jointly-controlled entities are eliminated 

to the extent of the Group’s investments in the jointly-controlled entities, except where unrealised losses 

provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of jointly-

controlled entities is included as part of the Group’s investments in jointly-controlled entities. Adjustments 

are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The results of jointly-controlled entities are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of 

dividends received and receivable. The Company’s investments in jointly-controlled entities are treated as 

non-current assets and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred 

is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of 

assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree 

and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business 

combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that 

are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the 

event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All 

other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are 

expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 

appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 

circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 

embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 

acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition 

date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the 

scope of HKAS 39 is measured at fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit or loss 

or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is not within the scope 

of HKAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent consideration that is 

classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required 

(other than inventories, financial assets and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is 

estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in 

use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 

not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, 

in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 

belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 

pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in which it 

arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is any indication 

that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an 

indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an 

asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 

the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would 

have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised 

for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the income statement in 

the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal 

of impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued 

asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person,

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies;

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or 

fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of either the 

Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises 

its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and 

location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been 

put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement in the 

period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for 

a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant 

parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such 

parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant 

and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this 

purpose are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Buildings 20 to 30 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 6 years

Plant and machinery 4 to 12 years

Office equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 3 to 6 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item 

is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual 

values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at 

each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised 

upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or 

loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is 

the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2012
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

56 Junefield Department Store Group Limited
Annual Report 2012

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the leasehold interest under an 

operating lease for a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held 

to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of 

goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such 

properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting 

period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the income 

statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the income 

statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 

assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. The useful lives 

of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are 

subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 

indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 

for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the 

cash generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset 

with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to 

be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on 

a prospective basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL) (continued)

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

Exploration and evaluation assets include the cost of exploration rights and the expenditures incurred in 

the search for mineral resources as well as the determination of the technical feasibility and commercial 

viability of extracting those resources. When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting 

mineral resources become demonstrate, previously recognised exploration and evaluation assets are 

reclassified as either intangible assets or property, plant and equipment. These assets are assessed for 

impairment before reclassification, and any impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

LEASES

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other 

than legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the 

leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together 

with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held 

under capitalised finance leases are included in property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over the 

shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases 

are charged to the income statement so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease 

terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are 

accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under 

operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases 

are credited to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is 

the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are 

charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently 

recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. The Group 

determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial assets are 

recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial 

assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 

that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 

sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation 

or convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include time deposits, cash and bank balances, accounts receivable, other 

receivables, amount due from a jointly-controlled entity, amounts due from related companies, financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale investments.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial 

assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are 

classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with 

positive net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains and negative net changes in fair 

value presented as finance costs in the income statement. These net fair value changes do not include 

any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the 

policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (held for trading) to assess 

whether the intent to sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the 

Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and management’s intent to 

sell them in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the Group may elect to reclassify them. The 

reclassification from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans and receivables, available-

for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity investments depends on the nature of the assets. This 

evaluation does not affect any financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss using the fair 

value option at designation, as these instruments cannot be reclassified after initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost 

is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs 

that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in 

other income and gains in the income statement. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the 

income statement in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity 

investments. Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which are neither classified as 

held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are subsequently measured at fair value, 

with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale 

investment revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or 

loss is recognised in the income statement in other income, or until the investment is determined to be 

impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale investment revaluation 

reserve to the income statement in other expenses. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the 

available-for-sale financial investments are reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively 

and are recognised in the income statement as other income in accordance with the policies set out for 

“Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability 

in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of 

the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, 

such investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the 

near term are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial 

assets due to inactive markets and management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the foreseeable 

future, the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets. Reclassification to loans and receivables 

is permitted when the financial assets meet the definition of loans and receivables and the Group has 

the intent and ability to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity. The reclassification to 

the held-to-maturity category is permitted only when the Group has the ability and intent to hold until the 

maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the 

date of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that 

has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using 

the effective interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also 

amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently 

determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 

assets) is derecognised when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 

“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 

and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 

pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of the 

ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards 

of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s 

continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. 

The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and 

obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 

lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 

Group could be required to repay.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 

financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets 

is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 

more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss 

event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial 

assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a 

group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 

payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable 

data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in 

arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses individually whether objective 

evidence of impairment exists for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for 

financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of 

impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the 

asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them 

for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, 

or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 

measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 

future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred). The present value of the 

estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the 

effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount 

rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account 

and the loss is recognised in the income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued on the 

reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows 

for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated 

allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because 

of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 

increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is 

credited to the income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument 

that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss 

is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 

future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment 

losses on these assets are not reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the end of each reporting period 

whether there is objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of 

any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 

recognised in the income statement, is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the 

income statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence would include a 

significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The determination of 

what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost 

of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been below its original 

cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between 

the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously 

recognised in the income statement – is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in 

the income statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not 

reversed through the income statement. Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised 

directly in other comprehensive income.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 

hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial 

recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of 

directly attributable transaction costs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payable, other payables, amounts due to the ultimate 

holding company, a joint venturer and related companies, dividend payable to non-controlling interests 

and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Loan and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in 

which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the 

liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 

or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is 

included in finance costs in the income statement.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or 

expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 

terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification 

is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference 

between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of 

financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is 

an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets is determined by reference to 

quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short 

positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. For financial instruments where there is no 

active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques 

include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another 

instrument which is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-

out basis and, in the case of finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate 

proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated 

costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 

on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 

known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity 

of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and 

form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 

and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to 

use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past 

event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided 

that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at 

the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. 

The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in 

finance costs in the income statement.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or 

loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 

to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration 

interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the report 

period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 

purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 

the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 

and joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 

and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INCOME TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused 

tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of 

unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 

time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is 

probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will 

be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 

to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 

the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each 

reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit 

will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 

when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity 

and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the 

revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred 

to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree 

usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) from the rendering of property management and agency services, when such services are 

rendered;

(c) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that 

discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to the 

net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards 

to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including 

directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees 

render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the 

date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a trinomial model, 

further details of which are given in note 36 to the financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, 

over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense 

recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date 

reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number 

of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a period 

represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that 

period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions 

where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting 

irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other 

performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as 

if the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense 

is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is 

otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 

any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where 

non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a 

new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date 

that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original 

award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 

earnings per share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme 

(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees 

who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of 

the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as they become payable in 

accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from 

those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully 

with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) 

are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. The 

contributions are charged to the income statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules 

of the central pension scheme.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 

i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 

are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases 

when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the 

temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted 

from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they 

are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with 

the borrowing of funds.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate allocation of retained profits 

within the equity section of the statement of financial position, until they have been approved by the 

shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and 

declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared. Consequently, interim dividends are 

recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and 

presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included 

in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency 

transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional 

currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the 

reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the 

income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 

are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 

measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the 

fair value was determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at 

fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., 

translation differences on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive 

income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and the jointly-controlled entity are currencies 

other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these 

entities are translated into the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at 

the end of the reporting period and their income statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the 

weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign 

operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is 

recognised in the income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the 

foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are 

translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently 

recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong 

Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of the Group’s financial instruments as at the end of the 

reporting period are as follows:

Financial
assets at fair

value through
profit or 

loss – held 
for trading

Loans and
receivables

Available-
for-sale

financial
assets Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2012

Available-for-sale investments – – 48,448 48,448
Accounts receivable – 11,920 – 11,920
Financial assets included in prepayments, 

deposits and other receivables – 10,529 – 10,529
Amount due from a jointly-controlled entity – 45 – 45
Amounts due from related companies – 11,720 – 11,720
Equity investments at fair value  

through profit or loss 26,476 – – 26,476
Time deposits – 162,518 – 162,518
Cash and bank balances – 120,424 – 120,424

26,476 317,156 48,448 392,080

2011

Accounts receivable – 31,054 – 31,054
Financial assets included in prepayments, 

deposits and other receivables – 1,514 – 1,514
Amount due from a jointly-controlled entity – 4,502 – 4,502
Amounts due from related companies – 11,549 – 11,549
Equity investments at fair value  

through profit or loss 15,343 – – 15,343
Time deposits – 116,055 – 116,055
Cash and bank balances – 29,278 – 29,278

15,343 193,952 – 209,295
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3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

Financial Financial

liabilities at liabilities at

amortised cost amortised cost

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts payable 3,541 7,441

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 39,512 64,787

Amount due to the ultimate holding company 29 27

Amounts due to related companies 6,089 3,777

Amount due to a joint venturer 19 19

Dividend payable to non-controlling interests – 25,143

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 161,046 6,173

210,236 107,367

4. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial 

instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 

or liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for which all inputs which have a significant 

effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for which any inputs which have 

a significant effect on the recorded fair value are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs)
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4. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (continued)

As at 31 December 2011 and 2012, the Group held the following financial instruments measured at fair 

value:

ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2012:

Available-for-sale investments 48,448 – – 48,448

Equity investments at fair value  

through profit or loss 26,476 – – 26,476

74,924 – – 74,924

As at 31 December 2011:

Equity investments at fair value  

through profit or loss 15,343 – – 15,343

During the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, there were no transfers of fair value measurements 

between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair 

value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s 

overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 

minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

INTEREST RATE RISK

At 31 December 2012, the Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to bank borrowings with a 

floating interest rate, further details of these borrowings are set out in note 33 to the financial statements. 

The Group currently does not hedge its exposure to interest rate risks. However, the management 

monitors the interest rate risk exposure closely and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk 

exposure should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with 

all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profits after tax (through the impact on floating rate 

borrowings) and the Group’s equity.

Increase/

(decrease) in

basis points

Increase/

(decrease)

in profit

after tax

Increase/

(decrease)

in equity*

HK$’000 HK$’000

2012

United States dollar 100 (47) –

United States dollar (100) 47 –

* Excluding retained profits
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by 

operating units in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies. The Group’s major operations and 

businesses are located in the PRC and substantially all transactions are conducted in Renminbi (“RMB”). 

All the assets and liabilities of these businesses are denominated in RMB.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors 

foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should 

the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible 

change in the RMB exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit after tax 

(due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group’s equity.

Increase/

(decrease) in

RMB rate

Increase/

(decrease)

in profit

after tax

Increase/

(decrease)

in equity*

% HK$’000 HK$’000

2012

If Hong Kong dollar  

weakens against RMB (5) 8,809 26,698

If Hong Kong dollar  

strengthens against RMB 5 (8,809) (26,698)

2011

If Hong Kong dollar  

weakens against RMB (5) 10,666 22,197

If Hong Kong dollar  

strengthens against RMB 5 (10,666) (22,197)

* Excluding retained profits
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(continued)

CREDIT RISK

The Group reviews the recoverability of its financial assets periodically to ensure that potential credit risk 

of the counterparty is managed at an early stage and sufficient provision is made for possible defaults. 

In addition, the Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual accounts receivable to 

ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, amount 

due from a jointly-controlled entity, other receivables and amounts due from related companies, arises 

from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these 

instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for 

collateral. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 14% 

(2011: 17%) and 59% (2011: 71%) of the Group’s accounts receivable were due from the Group’s largest 

customer and the five largest customers, respectively.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable 

are disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient 

reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short, medium and longer term. Banking facilities 

have been put in place for contingency purposes. Certain individual operating entities within the Group are 

responsible for their own cash management.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 

equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the 

effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group has available unutilised overdrafts of approximately HK$5,000,000.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the 

contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

On demand 

or less than 3 months

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts payable 3,541 7,441

Other payables and accruals 39,512 64,787

Amount due to the ultimate holding company 29 27

Amounts due to related companies 6,089 3,777

Amount due to a joint venturer 19 19

Dividend payable to non-controlling interests – 25,143

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 162,956 6,173

212,146 107,367

EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of changes in the 

levels of equity indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk 

arising from individual equity investments classified as trading equity investments and available-for-sale 

investments as at 31 December 2012. The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock Exchange, 

the TSX Venture Exchange of Canada and the ASX Limited and are valued at quoted market prices at the 

end of the reporting period.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK (continued)

The market equity indices for the Stock Exchange, the TSX Venture Exchange of Canada and 

the ASX Limited, at the close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the reporting 

period, and their respective highest and lowest points during the year were as follows:

31 December High/low 31 December High/low

2012 2012 2011 2011

Stock Exchange

– Hang Seng Index 22,657 22,719/

18,056

18,434 24,469/

16,170

TSX Venture Exchange of Canada

– S&P/TSX Venture Composite Index 1,221 1,696/

1,154

1,485 2,465/

1,306

ASX Limited

– S&P/ASX 200 Index 4,649 4,689/

3,985

4,071 4,976/

3,862
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10% change in the fair values of the equity 

investments, with all other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on their carrying 

amounts at the end of the reporting period.

Carrying Increase/

amount (decrease) Increase/

of equity in profit (decrease)

investments before tax in equity*

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2012

Investments listed in:

Hong Kong – Held-for-trading 3,213 321/

(321)

–

Elsewhere – Held-for-trading 23,263 2,326/

(2,326)

–

Elsewhere – Available-for-sale 48,448 – 4,845/

(4,845)

2011

Investments listed in:

Hong Kong – Held-for-trading 3,745 375/

(375)

–

Elsewhere – Held-for-trading 11,598 1,160/

(1,160)

–

* Excluding retained profits
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(continued)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to enhance the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital 

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment 

to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for 

managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

The Group monitors capital using the debt-to-total equity ratio, which is net debt divided by total equity. 

Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including amount due to the ultimate holding company, 

amounts due to related companies, amount due to a joint venturer, dividend payable to non-controlling 

interests and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) less cash and bank balances.

The debt-to-total equity ratios at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total borrowings 167,183 35,139

Less: Cash and bank balances (120,424) (29,278)

Net debt 46,759 5,861

Total equity 753,099 625,699

Debt-to-total equity ratio 6% 1%
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and 

their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these 

assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 

the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

USEFUL LIVES OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and consequently related depreciation 

charges. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant 

and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result of technical 

innovations and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles. Management will increase 

the deprecation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or 

write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. The carrying 

amount of property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2012 was approximately HK$235,592,000 

(2011: HK$250,328,000). Further details are included in note 17 to the financial statements.

IMPAIRMENT OF EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

The carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets is reviewed for impairment when events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. The Group considers 

all facts and circumstances occurred to judge whether these facts and circumstances would suggest 

that the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets may exceed its recoverable amount 

(i.e. impaired). Based on the judgement of the directors, there was no impairment on the exploration 

and evaluation assets and no impairment loss is recognised for the year ended 31 December 2012. 

Management reassesses the impairment of exploration and evaluation assets at the end of the 

reporting period. The carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets at 31 December 2012 

was approximately HK$15,717,000 (2011: Nil). Further details are included in note 20 to the financial 

statements.
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
(continued)

ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF RECEIVABLES

The Group records impairment of receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of accounts 

receivable and other receivables. Provisions are applied to accounts receivable and other receivables 

where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The 

identification of doubtful debts requires the use of judgements and estimates. Where the expectation 

is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of accounts 

receivable and other receivables and impairment charges in the period in which such estimate has been 

changed. The amount of accounts receivable at 31 December 2012 was approximately HK$11,920,000 

(2011: HK$31,054,000). Further details are included in note 25 to the financial statements.

ESTIMATION OF FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties of the Group are stated at fair value in accordance with the accounting 

policy stated in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The fair value of investment properties at 

31 December 2012 was approximately HK$47,765,000 (2011: HK$40,332,000). The fair value of 

investment properties, set out in note 18 to the financial statements are determined by an independent 

professional qualified valuer. Such valuations are made based on certain assumptions, which are subject 

to uncertainties and might materially differ from the actual results. In making the judgement, reasonable 

consideration has been given to the underlying assumptions that are mainly based on market condition 

existing at the end of the reporting period. These estimates are regularly compared to actual market data 

and actual transactions in the market.

IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLE ASSET – SUPPLIER CONTRACTS

At the end of the reporting period, management reconsidered the recoverability of the intangible 

asset – supplier contracts arising from the acquisition of a subsidiary, in which the carrying amount at 

31 December 2012 is approximately HK$136,331,000 (2011: HK$147,879,000). The business of the 

related subsidiary continues to progress in a satisfactory manner. Sensitivity analysis has been carried out 

by management and no impairment is considered necessary at 31 December 2012. Adjustment will be 

made in future periods if future market activities indicate that adjustments for impairment are appropriate. 

Further details are included in note 20 to the financial statements.

INCOME TAXES

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on the future tax treatment of certain transactions. 

The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly. 

The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes in tax 

legislations.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and 

services and has five reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the property investment segment engages in property leasing and sale of properties;

(b) the property management and agency services segment provides property management and 

agency services;

(c) the manufacture and sale of construction materials segment engages in the manufacture and sale 

of slag powder;

(d) the securities investments segment engages in investments in listed securities; and

(e) the others segment comprises, principally, the Group’s leasing of machinery business and 

consultancy service.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segment separately for the purpose of making 

decisions about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated 

based on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted 

profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income, 

unallocated finance costs, dividend income as well as head office and corporate expenses are excluded 

from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from related companies and other 

unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, amount due to the ultimate 

holding company, amounts due to related companies and other unallocated head office and corporate 

liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling prices used for sales made to 

third parties at the prevailing market prices.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

SEGMENT RESULTS

An analysis of the Group’s segment results by reportable segment is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2012

Property 

investment

Property 

management 

and agency 

services

Manufacture 

and sale of 

construction 

materials

Securities 

investments Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue:

Sales to/revenue from external 

customers* 1,748 17,566 176,042 – – 195,356

Investment income – – – 13,152 – 13,152

1,748 17,566 176,042 13,152 – 208,508

Segment results 7,219 1,299 59,987 13,093 – 81,598

Bank interest income and  

other unallocated income 2,399

Corporate and other  

unallocated expenses (24,827)

Unallocated finance costs (1,297)

Share of profit of  

a jointly-controlled entity 146,464

Profit before tax 204,337

Income tax expense (19,472)

Profit for the year 184,865

* Since the amount of intersegment sales is insignificant, no reconciliation has been made.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

SEGMENT RESULTS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2011

Property 

investment

Property 

management 

and agency 

services

Manufacture 

and sale of 

construction 

materials

Securities 

investments Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated) (Restated)

Segment revenue:

Sales to/revenue from  

external customers* 28,403 16,378 221,721 – 633 267,135

Investment income – – – (5,355) – (5,355)

28,403 16,378 221,721 (5,355) 633 261,780

Segment results 11,056 2,148 88,618 (5,445) (2,117) 94,260

Bank interest income and  

other unallocated income 3,675

Corporate and other  

unallocated expenses (33,210)

Unallocated finance costs (8,401)

Share of profit of  

a jointly-controlled entity 137,829

Profit before tax 194,153

Income tax expense (30,826)

Profit for the year 163,327

* Since the amount of intersegment sales is insignificant, no reconciliation has been made.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
An analysis of the Group’s segment assets and liabilities by reportable segment is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2012

Property 
investment

Property 
management 

and agency 
services

Manufacture 
and sale of 

construction 
materials

Securities 
investments Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities:
Segment assets 52,834 12,759 429,343 78,384 67,357 640,677

Corporate and other  
unallocated assets 221,339

Investment in  
a jointly-controlled entity 187,957

Total assets 1,049,973

Segment liabilities 24,510 18,585 64,588 25 1,859 109,567

Corporate and other  
unallocated liabilities 187,307

Total liabilities 296,874

Other segment information:
Depreciation and amortisation 413 321 33,387 – – 34,121
Corporate and other  

unallocated amounts 3,143

37,264

Finance costs – – 713 – – 713
Corporate and other  

unallocated amounts 584

1,297

Fair value gains on  
investment properties (7,280) – – – – (7,280)

Impairment losses recognised  
in the income statement – 19 – – – 19

Additions to non-current assets* 2 28 179 – 126 335
Corporate and other  

unallocated amounts 4,232

4,567

* Additions to non-current assets consist of additions to property, plant and equipment.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2011

Property 
investment

Property 
management 

and agency 
services

Manufacture 
and sale of 

construction 
materials

Securities 
investments Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated) (Restated)

Assets and liabilities:
Segment assets 50,241 16,864 478,331 15,343 43,823 604,602

Corporate and other  
unallocated assets 77,166

Investment in  
a jointly-controlled entity 148,996

Total assets 830,764

Segment liabilities 20,813 23,641 127,673 10 137 172,274

Corporate and other  
unallocated liabilities 32,791

Total liabilities 205,065

Other segment information:
Depreciation and amortisation 361 317 32,551 – 1,575 34,804
Corporate and other  

unallocated amounts 42

34,846

Finance costs – – 7,830 – – 7,830
Corporate and other  

unallocated amounts 571

8,401

Fair value gains on  
investment properties (8,797) – – – – (8,797)

Impairment losses reversed in the 
income statement – (24) – – – (24)

Additions to non-current assets* 16 4 – – 23,084 23,104
Corporate and other  

unallocated amounts 69

23,173

* Additions to non-current assets consist of additions to property, plant and equipment.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

(a) Revenue from external customers

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

PRC 195,356 266,502
Canada 13,684 (1,801)
Hong Kong (532) (3,554)
Peru – 633

208,508 261,780

The revenue information above is based on the location of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000

PRC 586,443 571,179
Peru 57,442 41,044
Australia 48,448 –
Hong Kong 3,927 123

696,260 612,346

The non-current assets information above is based on the location of assets.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Revenue from customers of corresponding periods contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group is 
as follows:

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A# 29,810 N/A*
Customer B# N/A* 29,970
Customer C# N/A* 27,880
Customer D (Revenue attributable to  

property investment segment) N/A* 27,361

29,810 85,211

* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of total revenue of the Group for the year.
# Revenue attributable to manufacture and sale of construction material segment.
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8. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after 

allowances for returns and trade discounts, property management and agency fees, gain on trading 

equity investments and gross rental income received and receivable from investment properties during the 

year.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income is as follows:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Revenue

Sale of construction materials 176,042 221,721

Property management and agency fees 17,566 16,378

Fair value gains/(losses), net:

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss  

– held for trading 13,152 (5,355)

Gross rental income 1,748 1,675

Sale of properties – 27,361

208,508 261,780

Other income

Bank interest income 1,284 1,219

Interest income on other loans 453 2,348

Reversal of impairment of accounts receivable – 24

Others 1,188 1,217

2,925 4,808
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9. OPERATING PROFIT

The Group’s operating profit is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Group

2012 2011

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Employee benefits expense  

(excluding directors’ remuneration)

Salaries, wages and other benefits (i) 27,081 21,803

Pension scheme contributions (ii) 2,820 2,492

29,901 24,295

Cost of inventories sold 91,141 112,089

Cost of properties held for sale – 24,551

Amortisation of other intangible assets 12,638 12,345

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 549 537

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (iii) 24,077 21,964

Auditors’ remuneration 630 575

Foreign exchange differences, net (1,322) 1,385

Compensation paid (iv) – 14,020

Minimum lease payments under operating leases  

in respect of land and buildings 800 792

Notes:

(i) Salaries, wages and other benefits of approximately HK$6,540,000 (2011: HK$6,705,000), HK$19,476,000 

(2011: HK$14,033,000) and HK$1,065,000 (2011: HK$1,065,000) were charged to cost of production, administrative 

expenses and selling and distribution expenses respectively.

(ii) At 31 December 2012, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions to the pension 

schemes in future years (2011: Nil).

(iii) Depreciation of approximately HK$19,568,000 (2011: HK$19,041,000) and HK$4,509,000 (2011: HK$2,923,000) 

were charged to cost of production and administrative expenses respectively.

(iv) Further details of the compensation paid are set out in note 40 to the financial statements.
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10. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank loan and other loans wholly  

repayable within five years 584 6,512

Other finance costs

Financial guarantee expenses 713 1,889

1,297 8,401

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 

on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is 

as follows:

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees 769 571

Other emoluments:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,711 1,374

Pension scheme contributions 27 27

1,738 1,401

2,507 1,972



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2012
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

93Junefield Department Store Group Limited
Annual Report 2012

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(a) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees

Mr. Leung Man Kit 180 180

Mr. Chan Kwok Wai 180 180

Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert 180 180

540 540

Apart from the above, there were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive 

directors during the year (2011: Nil).

(b) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND A NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Group

Salaries,
allowances Pension

and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2012
Executive directors:

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He – 180 9 189
Mr. Ng Man Chung, Siman – 180 9 189
Mr. Liu Zhongsheng 49 811 – 860
Mr. Zhang Xiaobing  

(resigned on  
31 December 2012) – 180 9 189

Mr. Xiang Xianhong – 180 – 180
Mr. Lei Shuguang – 180 – 180

49 1,711 27 1,787
Non-executive director:

Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose
Muñiz Ziches 180 – – 180

229 1,711 27 1,967
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND A NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

Group (continued)

Salaries,
allowances Pension

and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2011
Executive directors:

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He – 180 9 189
Mr. Ng Man Chung, Siman – 180 9 189
Mr. Liu Zhongsheng 24 774 – 798
Mr. Zhang Xiaobing – 180 9 189
Mr. Xiang Xianhong – 30 – 30
Mr. Lei Shuguang – 30 – 30

24 1,374 27 1,425
Non-executive director:

Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose  
Muñiz Ziches 7 – – 7

31 1,374 27 1,432

Mr. Liu Zhongsheng is also the chief executive of the Company and his emoluments disclosed 

above include those for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration 

during the year (2011: Nil).
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12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year did not include any directors (2011: one director). Details 
of the remuneration for the year of the five (2011: four) highest paid employees who are neither a director 
nor a chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Group

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,060 3,590
Pension scheme contributions 46 36

5,106 3,626

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is 
as follows:

Group
Number of employees

2012 2011

Nil – HK$1,000,000 3 3
HK$1,000,000 – HK$1,500,000 2 1

5 4

13. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2011: 16.5%) on the estimated 
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been 
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Group

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current – Hong Kong
Charge for the year – 112
Over-provision in prior year (16) (6)

Current – elsewhere 16,691 12,314
Deferred tax charge (note 34) 1,867 11,154
Withholding tax charge on dividends distributed  

by entities in the PRC 930 7,252

Total tax charge for the year 19,472 30,826
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13. INCOME TAX (continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 

Hong Kong profits tax rate of 16.5% (2011: 16.5%) as follows:

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before tax 204,337 194,153

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% (2011: 16.5%) 33,716 32,035

Income not subject to tax (4,437) (4,690)

Expenses not deductible for tax 4,712 10,479

(Over)/under-provision in prior year (4,550) 26

Tax loss not recognised 432 284

Profits attributable to a jointly-controlled entity (24,166) (22,742)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in  

other jurisdictions 9,187 (2,049)

Effect of withholding tax at 10% on the distributable profit of  

the Group’s jointly-controlled entity 2,479 13,783

Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the distributable profit of  

the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC 2,099 –

Effect of withholding tax at 10% on the dividend declared by  

the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC – 3,700

Tax charge for the Group’s effective rate 19,472 30,826

Hunan Taiji Construction Material Company Limited (“Hunan Taiji”), a subsidiary of the Group, is subject 

to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) at a rate of 25% on taxable income as reported in the statutory 

PRC financial statements for the year. Hunan Taiji is entitled to exemption from EIT for the first two 

profitable years commencing from the year ended 31 December 2007 and a 50% reduction from normal 

EIT for the three years following. Effective from 1 January 2012, EIT is provided at 25% (2011: 12.5%) on 

the estimated assessable profit for the year.
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14. DIVIDENDS

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim dividend paid – HK1 cent (2011: HK1 cent) per share 10,162 10,162

Final dividend proposed – HK1.5 cents  

(2011: HK1.5 cents) per share 15,243 15,243

25,405 25,405

The directors recommended the payment of a final dividend in respect of the year ended 

31 December 2012 of HK1.5 cents per share, totalling approximately HK$15,243,000. The proposed 

final dividend for the year is subject to the approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the 

Company.

During the year, the final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2011 of 

HK1.5 cents per share totalling approximately HK$15,243,000 and the interim dividend for the 

six months ended 30 June 2012 of HK1 cent per share, totalling approximately HK$10,162,000 were 

paid to shareholders.

15. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012 

includes a profit of approximately HK$80,364,000 (2011: HK$42,141,000) which has been dealt with in 

the financial statements of the Company (note 37(b)).
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE 
COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the 

Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,016,167,967 (2011: 1,009,775,090) 

in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount is based on the profit for the year attributable to 

owners of the Company. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the 

number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, 

and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration 

on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings

Profit attributable to owners of the Company,  

used in the basic and diluted earnings per share calculation 165,324 140,144

Number of shares

2012 2011

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during  

the year used in the basic earnings per share calculation 1,016,167,967 1,009,775,090

Effect of dilution – weighted average number of ordinary shares:

Share options 21,198,260 32,614,732

1,037,366,227 1,042,389,822
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

Freehold Leasehold Plant and Office Motor

Land* Buildings improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2012

At 31 December 2011 and  

1 January 2012

Cost 6,515 128,105 2,925 162,811 3,414 4,637 308,407

Accumulated depreciation – (11,347) (663) (42,695) (1,828) (1,546) (58,079)

Net carrying amount 6,515 116,758 2,262 120,116 1,586 3,091 250,328

At 1 January 2012, net of 

accumulated depreciation 6,515 116,758 2,262 120,116 1,586 3,091 250,328

Additions – – 105 179 95 4,188 4,567

Depreciation provided for the year – (5,191) (118) (17,140) (445) (1,183) (24,077)

Exchange realignment 535 2,953 183 913 85 105 4,774

At 31 December 2012, net of  

accumulated depreciation 7,050 114,520 2,432 104,068 1,321 6,201 235,592

At 31 December 2012

Cost 7,050 131,318 3,230 164,517 3,657 8,971 318,743

Accumulated depreciation – (16,798) (798) (60,449) (2,336) (2,770) (83,151)

Net carrying amount 7,050 114,520 2,432 104,068 1,321 6,201 235,592

* The freehold land is located outside Hong Kong.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group (continued)

Freehold Leasehold Plant and Office Motor

land* Buildings improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2011

At 31 December 2010 and  

1 January 2011

Cost 4,249 103,742 1,925 154,272 2,844 2,982 270,014

Accumulated depreciation – (6,721) (547) (24,029) (1,343) (880) (33,520)

Net carrying amount 4,249 97,021 1,378 130,243 1,501 2,102 236,494

At 1 January 2011, net of 

accumulated depreciation 4,249 97,021 1,378 130,243 1,501 2,102 236,494

Additions 2,109 18,244 917 – 439 1,464 23,173

Disposals – – – (905) (4) – (909)

Depreciation provided for the year – (4,124) (83) (16,753) (411) (593) (21,964)

Written back on disposal – – – – 3 – 3

Exchange realignment 157 5,617 50 7,531 58 118 13,531

At 31 December 2011, net of 

accumulated depreciation 6,515 116,758 2,262 120,116 1,586 3,091 250,328

At 31 December 2011

Cost 6,515 128,105 2,925 162,811 3,414 4,637 308,407

Accumulated depreciation – (11,347) (663) (42,695) (1,828) (1,546) (58,079)

Net carrying amount 6,515 116,758 2,262 120,116 1,586 3,091 250,328

* The freehold land is located outside Hong Kong.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Company

Office
equipment

HK$’000

31 December 2012

At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012
Cost 281
Accumulated depreciation (157)

Net carrying amount 124

At 1 January 2012, net of accumulated depreciation 124
Additions 45
Depreciation provided for the year (49)

At 31 December 2012, net of accumulated depreciation 120

At 31 December 2012
Cost 326
Accumulated depreciation (206)

Net carrying amount 120

31 December 2011

At 31 December 2010 and 1 January 2011
Cost 212
Accumulated depreciation (116)

Net carrying amount 96

At 1 January 2011, net of accumulated depreciation 96
Additions 69
Depreciation provided for the year (41)

At 31 December 2011, net of accumulated depreciation 124

At 31 December 2011
Cost 281
Accumulated depreciation (157)

Net carrying amount 124
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 40,332 30,645

Net gain from a fair value adjustment 7,280 8,797

Exchange realignment 153 890

Carrying amount at 31 December 47,765 40,332

The investment properties are held under a medium term lease and are situated in the PRC.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2012 by RHL Appraisal 

Limited, independent professional qualified valuer, at approximately HK$47,765,000 (equivalent to 

RMB38,370,000), on an open market value basis by direct comparison method. Certain investment 

properties are leased to third parties under operating leases, further summary details of which are 

included in note 39 to the financial statements.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are included on page 131 of this annual report.

19. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 24,811 23,977

Recognised during the year (note 9) (549) (537)

Exchange realignment 188 1,371

Carrying amount at 31 December 24,450 24,811

The leasehold land is held under medium term leases and is situated in the PRC.
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group

Exploration

Supplier and evaluation

contracts assets Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note (i)) (Note (ii))

31 December 2012
Cost at 1 January 2012, net of  

accumulated amortisation 147,879 – 147,879
Additions – 15,298 15,298
Amortisation provided during the year (12,638) – (12,638)
Exchange realignment 1,090 419 1,509

At 31 December 2012 136,331 15,717 152,048

At 31 December 2012
Cost 182,130 15,717 197,847
Accumulated amortisation (45,799) – (45,799)

Net carrying amount 136,331 15,717 152,048

31 December 2011
Cost at 1 January 2011, net of  

accumulated amortisation 151,220 – 151,220
Amortisation provided during the year (12,345) – (12,345)
Exchange realignment 9,004 – 9,004

At 31 December 2011 147,879 – 147,879

At 31 December 2011
Cost 180,624 – 180,624
Accumulated amortisation (32,745) – (32,745)

Net carrying amount 147,879 – 147,879
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(i) The amount of supplier contract represents the fair value of the materials supply agreement 

embedded in the joint venture agreement dated 30 June 2006 (“Joint Venture Agreement”) 

regarding the establishment of Hunan Taiji entered into between the joint venturers, namely 

Junefield (Building Material) Limited and 漣源鋼鐵集團有限公司 (Lianyuan Steel Group Limited) 

(“Lianyuan Steel”), upon the acquisition of Junefield (Building Material) Limited and its subsidiary, 

Hunan Taiji, by the Group on 22 May 2009. 華菱漣源鋼鐵有限公司 (Hualing Steel Company 

Limited) (“Hualing Steel”), a company established in the PRC, is a steel products manufacturer and 

is effectively owned as to more than 30% by the holding company of Lianyuan Steel. Pursuant 

to the Joint Venture Agreement, Lianyuan Steel is responsible to guarantee the supply of raw 

materials required by Hunan Taiji and to procure Hualing Steel to supply granulated steel slag to 

Hunan Taiji at prescribed unit price for a period of 15 years from the date of commencement of 

operation of Hunan Taiji.

The above intangible asset has definite useful live and is amortised on a straight-line basis over the 

estimated useful life of 14 years. At the end of the reporting period, the directors have assessed 

whether there is any indication that these supplier contracts may be impaired. The directors have 

concluded that there is no impairment indication.

(ii) The exploration and evaluation assets represent the cost of acquisition of the exploration licences 

related to 4 coal mines in Peru, which are under the exploration and evaluation stage as at  

31 December 2012, with a carrying value of approximately HK$15,717,000. These assets are not 

subject to amortisation until they are placed in use.

At the end of the reporting period, the directors have assessed whether there is any indication that 

these exploration and evaluation assets may be impaired. The directors have concluded that there 

is no impairment indication.
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21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 182,079 182,079

Capital contribution in respect of employee  

share-based compensation 2,016 2,016

184,095 184,095

Impairment for unlisted shares (182,079) (182,079)

2,016 2,016

The amounts due from subsidiaries included in the Company’s current assets are unsecured, interest-free 

and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of Nominal value Percentage

incorporation/ of issued of equity

registration share capital/ attributable to Principal

Name and operations registered capital the Company activities

Directly held

Huaxia Group Limited British Virgin Islands US$50,000 100 Investment holding

Junefield Energy  

Holdings Limited

British Virgin Islands US$1 100 Investment holding

Indirectly held

Best Yield Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 Securities investments

Ever Park Development Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 Property investment
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Indirectly held (continued)

Golden Talent  

Development Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 100 Property investment

Grade Honor  

Investments Limited

British Virgin Islands US$1 100 Investment holding

Huaxia Investment  

Worldwide Limited

Hong Kong HK$100 100 Investment holding

Hudson International  

Hong Kong Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 100 Investment holding

Hunan Taiji (Note (i)) PRC US$11,000,000 60 Manufacture and sale 

of construction 

materials

International Management 

Company Limited (“IMC”)

Hong Kong HK$1,500,000 100 Investment holding

Junefield (Building Material) 

Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 100 Investment holding

Junefield High Value Metals 

Investments Limited

Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 Securities investments

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of Nominal value Percentage

incorporation/ of issued of equity

registration share capital/ attributable to Principal

Name and operations registered capital the Company activities
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Indirectly held (continued)

Lima Junefield Plaza S.A.C. Peru Soles7,848,316 100 Investment holding

Talent Note Limited British Virgin Islands US$3 100 Investment holding

Top Honor Investment 

Development Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 100 Trading

Wuhan Huaxin Management 

Limited (“WHM”) (Note (i))

PRC RMB3,000,000 51 Property management

莊勝（北京）房地產經紀 

有限公司 (Junefield (Beijing) 

Property Agency Co., Ltd.) 

(“Junefield Agency”)  

(Note (ii))

PRC US$100,000 100 Property agency

Notes:

(i) The subsidiaries are registered as contractual joint ventures under the PRC law.

(ii) The subsidiary is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC Laws.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally 
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give 
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of Nominal value Percentage

incorporation/ of issued of equity

registration share capital/ attributable to Principal

Name and operations registered capital the Company activities
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2012

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY

Group

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets 187,957 148,996

Particulars of the Group’s jointly-controlled entity at 31 December 2012 are as follows:

Name

Particulars
of registered

capital

Place of
registration

and operations

Percentage of 
ownership 

interest and
profit sharing

attributable
to the Group

Principal
activities

Wuhan Plaza Management  
Co., Ltd. (“WPM”)

US$10,290,000 PRC 49 Operation and 
management of a 
department store

WPM is an equity joint venture company established by IMC, an indirectly held subsidiary of the Company, 
and Wuhan Department Store Group Co., Ltd. (the “PRC Partner”) for a period of 20 years commencing 
from 29 December 1993. The registered capital of WPM amounted to US$21,000,000.

The amount due from a jointly-controlled entity at 31 December 2012 of approximately HK$45,000 
(2011: HK$4,502,000) is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s jointly-controlled entity:

Group

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of the jointly-controlled entity’s assets and liabilities:
Current assets 545,648 514,335
Non-current assets 18,489 13,831
Current liabilities (376,180) (379,170)

187,957 148,996

Share of the jointly-controlled entity’s results:
Income 1,672,777 1,524,537
Expenses (1,526,313) (1,386,708)

146,464 137,829
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23. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity investment, at cost (Note (i)) 31,642 31,642

Impairment (31,642) (31,642)

– –

Listed equity investments, at fair value:

– Elsewhere (Note (ii)) 48,448 –

48,448 –

Note:

(i) The investment in equity securities, which is classified as an available-for-sale financial asset, has no fixed 

maturity date or coupon rate. The PRC business licence of Wuhan Huaxin Real-Estate Co., Ltd. has expired on 

4 September 2007. The unlisted equity investment was stated at cost less impairment because the range of 

reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the directors are of the opinion that its fair value cannot be 

measured reliably.

(ii) The listed equity investments represented investments in a mineral exploration company incorporated in Australia and 

whose shares are listed on the ASX Limited and the Group holds an approximately 19.87% of its equity interest.

24. INVENTORIES

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials and consumables 2,876 3,943

Finished goods 477 259

3,353 4,202
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25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts receivable 12,189 31,301

Impairment (269) (247)

11,920 31,054

Included in the Group’s accounts receivable at 31 December 2011 was an amount due from a related 

company, Junefield Group S.A.C. of approximately HK$174,000, which was non-interest-bearing and 

denominated in United States dollars (“USD”). The Group does not grant credit period to this related 

company. Details of these related party transactions are set out in note 41(a) to the financial statements.

Other accounts receivable are due immediately from the date of billing. Payment in advance is normally 

required. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and overdue 

balances which are reviewed regularly by senior management to minimise credit risk. Other accounts 

receivable are non-interest-bearing and mainly denominated in RMB.

An aged analysis of the Group’s accounts receivable as at the end of the reporting period, based on the 

invoice date, is as follows:

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 month 2,030 8,623

1 to 3 months 6,331 14,854

Over 3 months 3,828 7,824

12,189 31,301

Impairment (269) (247)

11,920 31,054
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25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of accounts receivable are as follows:

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 247 256

Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) (note 8) 19 (24)

Exchange realignment 3 15

269 247

The above provision for impairment of accounts receivable represents provision for individually impaired 

accounts receivable of approximately HK$269,000 (2011: HK$247,000). The individually impaired 

accounts receivable mainly relate to customers that were in financial difficulties. It was assessed that only 

a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral or other 

credit enhancements over these balances.

The aged analysis of the accounts receivable that are not considered to be impaired is as follows:

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Less than 1 month past due 2,030 8,623

1 to 3 months past due 6,331 14,853

Over 3 months past due 3,559 7,578

11,920 31,054

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to certain independent customers that have a 

good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the 

opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a 

significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does 

not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.
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26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 6,260 4,381 380 368

Deposits 468 540 124 126

Other receivables 8,439 2,423 160 160

Loan receivables 3,000 – – –

18,167 7,344 664 654

Impairment (910) (909) (160) (160)

17,257 6,435 504 494

The loan receivables at 31 December 2012 is denominated in Hong Kong dollars, bears interest at 1% 

per month, is secured by personal guarantee and is repayable in October 2013.

The movements in provision for impairment of prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as 

follows:

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 909 901

Exchange realignment 1 8

910 909

An impairment loss is made on deposits and other receivables based on a review of all outstanding 

amounts on regular basis when collection of the amounts is in doubt. Bad debts are written off when 

identified. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.
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27. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES

Highest balance

Name of director outstanding Group

Name of company having interests during the year 2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Power Fortune Mining S.A.C. Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He 119 – 119

Total Genius Iron Mining S.A.C. Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He 32 32 –

Junefield Property Agency Limited Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He 751 – 751

Hualing Steel (Note) 12,274 11,688 10,679

11,720 11,549

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Note: Lianyuan Steel, being the holding company of the minority shareholder of Hunan Taiji, has beneficial interests in 

Hualing Steel.

28. AMOUNTS DUE TO THE ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY/
RELATED COMPANIES/A JOINT VENTURER

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

29. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR 
LOSS

Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity investments,  

at market value:

Hong Kong 3,213 3,745 3,213 3,745

Elsewhere 23,263 11,598 – –

26,476 15,343 3,213 3,745

The above equity investments at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were classified as held for trading and 

recognised as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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30. TIME DEPOSITS AND CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Time deposits 162,518 116,055 154,822 72,046
Cash and bank balances 120,424 29,278 53,333 3,385

282,942 145,333 208,155 75,431

At the end of the reporting period, the time deposits and cash and bank balances of the Group 
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately HK$66,542,000 (2011: HK$68,385,000). The 
remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to the exchange control restrictions imposed by the 
PRC government.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time 
deposits are made for varying periods of average term of three months depending on the immediate cash 
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank 
balances and time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

31. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An aged analysis of the Group’s accounts payable as at the end of the reporting period, based on the 
invoice date, is as follows:

Group

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 month 70 219
1 to 3 months 3,106 7,222
Over 3 months 365 –

3,541 7,441

The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are mainly denominated in RMB.

Included in the Group’s accounts payable at 31 December 2012 was an amount due to a related 
company, 湖南漣鋼物流有限公司 (Lianyuan Logistics Co., Ltd.) (“Lianyuan Logistics”), of approximately 
HK$2,333,000 (2011: HK$1,685,000), which was non-interest-bearing and denominated in RMB. Details 
of these related party transactions are set out in note 41(a) to the financial statements.
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32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Accruals 11,401 18,307 6,859 8,400

Business tax payable 1,361 1,394 – –

Deposits received 12,744 25,450 – –

Other payables 26,750 45,086 1,425 1,186

52,256 90,237 8,284 9,586

Other payables are non-interest-bearing.

33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Group and Company

2012 2011

Note Maturity HK$’000 Maturity HK$’000

Current
Bank loan－unsecured (i) 2013－2015 154,822 N/A –

or on demand

Other loan－unsecured (ii) On demand 6,224 On demand 6,173

Amounts repayable within  
one year or on demand 161,046 6,173

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group obtained a bank loan of approximately HK$154,822,000. 

The loan is denominated in USD, bears interest at a rate of 3% above the bank’s cost of funds per annum and is 

repayable by 6 semi-annual installments for a term of 3 years.

(ii) The unsecured other loan is denominated in RMB, bears interest at a rate of 9.5% per annum and has no fixed terms 

of repayment.
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34. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as follows:

Group

Intangible Revaluation Withholding

asset of properties tax Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2011 37,805 10,594 4,357 52,756

Release upon payment of withholding 

tax during the year (note 13) – – (7,252) (7,252)

Deferred tax (credited)/charged to  

the income statement during  

the year (note 13) (3,086) 4,010 17,482 18,406

Exchange differences 2,251 279 522 3,052

At 31 December 2011 and  

1 January 2012 36,970 14,883 15,109 66,962

Release upon payment of withholding 

tax during the year (note 13) – – (930) (930)

Deferred tax (credited)/charged to  

the income statement during  

the year (note 13) (3,159) 3,227 2,729 2,797

Exchange differences 272 20 (163) 129

At 31 December 2012 34,083 18,130 16,745 68,958

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$764,000 (2011: HK$764,000) 

and that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which 

the losses arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in Peru of approximately HK$4,939,000 

(2011: HK$2,322,000) which the Group has the option to carry forward all net operating losses for 

4 years or carry the losses forward indefinitely, but only up to 50% of the taxpayer’s taxable income of 

each subsequent year. Loss carryback is not permitted. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised 

in respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time 

and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be 

utilised.
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34. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared 

to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is 

effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax 

rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. 

For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on 

dividends distributed by those subsidiaries and a jointly-controlled entity established in the PRC in respect 

of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2012, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable 

on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s certain subsidiaries 

established in the PRC. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will 

distribute the remaining unremitted earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of 

temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in the PRC for which deferred tax 

liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately HK$32,980,000 at 31 December 2012 

(2011: HK$4,210,000).

At 31 December 2011 and 2012, deferred tax has been recognised for the withholding taxes that would 

be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s jointly-

controlled entity.
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35. ISSUED CAPITAL

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:

25,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 2,500,000 2,500,000

Issued and fully paid:

1,016,167,967 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 101,617 101,617

There was no movement in share capital during the year ended 31 December 2012. During the year 

ended 31 December 2011, the subscription rights attaching to 13,700,000 share options were exercised 

at the subscription price of HK$0.229 per share (note 36), resulting in the issue of 13,700,000 shares 

of HK$0.10 each for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately HK$3,137,000. 

An amount of approximately HK$1,726,000 was transferred from the share option reserve to the 

share premium account upon the exercise of the share options. A summary of the transactions in the 

Company’s issued share capital during the year is as follows:

Number of

shares 

in issue

Issued

capital

Share

premium

account Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2011 1,002,467,967 100,247 67,480 167,727

Share options exercised 13,700,000 1,370 3,493 4,863

Share issue expenses – – (11) (11)

At 31 December 2011 and  

31 December 2012 1,016,167,967 101,617 70,962 172,579

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued under the scheme are 

included in note 36 to the financial statements.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the shareholders 

of the Company on 29 June 2009 (the “Share Option Scheme’). The Share Option Scheme became 

effective on 29 June 2009 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years 

from that date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is for the Group to attract, retain and motivate talented 

participants to strive for future development and expansion of the Group. The Share Option Scheme 

shall be an incentive to encourage the participants to perform their best in achieving the goals of the 

Group and allow the participants to enjoy the results of the Company attained through their efforts and 

contributions.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include (i) any full-time employees and directors 

(including executive directors, non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors) of the 

Group; (ii) any advisor or consultant to the Group, providers of goods and/or services to the Group, 

and any other person who, at the sole determination of the board of directors of the Company, has 

contributed to the Group; and (iii) the trustee of any trust whose beneficiaries or objects include any 

aforesaid employee or business associate.

The maximum number of share options permitted to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is an 

amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the date of 

approval of the Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to 

each eligible participant in the Share Option Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the 

shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is 

subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to 

any of their associates, are subject to approval by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, 

any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the 

Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any 

time and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of 

grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in a 

general meeting.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer, upon 

payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share 

options granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after a vesting period and ends on a 

date which is not later than ten years from the date of offer of the share options.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but shall not be less than the higher 

of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets 

on the date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated 

in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of 

grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Share Option Scheme during the years ended 

31 December 2011 and 2012:

2012 2011

Weighted 

average 

exercise price

per share

Number of 

options

Weighted 

average 

exercise price

per share

Number of 

options

HK$ ’000 HK$ ’000

At 1 January 0.229 43,980 0.229 57,680

Exercised during the year – – 0.229 (13,700)

At 31 December 0.229 43,980 0.229 43,980

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year 

ended 31 December 2011 was HK$0.65 per share. No share option under the Share Option Scheme was 

granted, forfeited or expired during the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2012.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise price and exercise periods of the share options outstanding as at the end of the reporting 

period are as follows:

Year Date of grant

Number of 

options

Exercise price* 

per share 

Exercise 

period

HK$

2012 6 July 2009 43,980,000 0.229 6 July 2009 to 5 July 2019

2011 6 July 2009 43,980,000 0.229 6 July 2009 to 5 July 2019

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar 

changes in the Company’s share capital.

The 13,700,000 share options exercised during the year ended 31 December 2011 resulted in the 

amount of 13,700,000 ordinary shares of the Company and new share capital of HK$1,370,000 and 

share premium of approximately HK$3,493,000, as further detail in note 37 to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 43,980,000 share options outstanding under 

the Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the 

present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 43,980,000 additional ordinary shares 

of the Company and additional share capital of HK$4,398,000 and share premium of approximately 

HK$11,215,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had 43,980,000 share options 

outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, which represented approximately 4.33% of the Company’s 

shares in issue as at that date.
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37. RESERVES

(a) GROUP

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years 

are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 39 of this annual report.

The Group’s capital reserve represents negative goodwill arisen on acquisitions prior to 

1 January 2001.

According to the relevant PRC rules and regulations and the Articles of Association of the PRC 

subsidiary of the Company which require the appropriation of 10% of its profit after tax to the 

statutory surplus reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital. The 

transfer of the reserve must be made before distributions of dividends to owners of the Group. 

Statutory surplus reserve can be used for making up losses and may be converted into capital in 

proportion to existing owners’ equity percentage, provided that the balance after such issuance is 

not less than 25% of its registered capital.
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37. RESERVES (continued)

(b) COMPANY

Share Share Proposed
premium option Retained final

Note account reserve profits dividend Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2011 67,480 7,266 34,873 15,037 124,656
Total comprehensive 

income for the year – – 42,141 – 42,141
Share options exercised 36 3,493 (1,726) – – 1,767
Share issue expenses 35 (11) – – – (11)
Final 2010 dividend paid – – – (15,153) (15,153)
Interim 2011 dividend 

paid 14 – – (10,162) – (10,162)
Proposed 2011 dividend 14 – – (15,243) 15,243 –
Transfer to retained 

earnings – – (116) 116 –

At 31 December 2011 
and 1 January 2012 70,962 5,540 51,493 15,243 143,238

Total comprehensive 
income for the year – – 80,364 – 80,364

Final 2011 dividend paid 14 – – – (15,243) (15,243)
Interim 2012 dividend 

paid 14 – – (10,162) – (10,162)
Proposed 2012 dividend 14 – – (15,243) 15,243 –

At 31 December 2012 70,962 5,540 106,452 15,243 198,197

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted which are yet to be 

exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for share-based payment transactions in 

note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the share premium 

account when the related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the 

related options expire or be forfeited.
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 29 March 2012, Take Rich Investment Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 

entered into the sale and purchase agreement with Junefield Mineral Resources Holdings Limited for 

the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Talent Note Limited at a total cash consideration of 

HK$68,260,000. Junefield Mineral Resources Holdings Limited is a company incorporated in Hong Kong 

and indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He, the Chairman, executive director and controlling 

shareholder of the Company. The acquisition constituted a discloseable and connected transaction under 

the Listing Rules. It was approved by the shareholders of the Company at a special general meeting held 

on 18 June 2012. The acquisition was duly completed on 21 June 2012. Talent Note Limited owns 100% 

equity interests in Junefield High Value Metals Investments Limited and both companies are investment 

holding company.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Talent Note Limited as at the date of acquisition 

and the corresponding carrying amounts immediately before the acquisition were as follows:

Acquiree’s 

carrying 

amount 

and fair value 

recognised on 

acquisition

HK$’000

Net assets acquired:

Available-for-sale investments 68,420

Cash and bank balances 23

Amount due to the ultimate holding company (276)

68,167

Transaction costs arisen from acquisition 93

68,260

Satisfied:

Cash 68,260
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries is 

as follows:

HK$’000

Cash consideration 68,260

Cash and bank balances acquired (23)

68,237

Since its acquisition, Talent Note Limited and its subsidiaries contributed no turnover to the Group and 

HK$86,000 to the consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December 2012.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the revenue from continuing operations of 

the Group and profit of the Group for the year would have been HK$208,508,000 and HK$184,857,000, 

respectively.
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39. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a) AS LESSOR

The Group leases certain of its investment properties and machineries under operating lease 

arrangements, which leases negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years.

At 31 December 2012, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-

cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 933 1,752

In the second to fifth years, inclusive – 1,336

933 3,088

(b) AS LESSEE

The Group leases its office property under operating lease arrangements. Lease for property is 

negotiated for a terms of two years.

At 31 December 2012, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases falling due as follows:

Group

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 857 800

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 857 –

1,714 800
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40. OUTSTANDING LITIGATIONS

(a) In May 2011, IMC (an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) received the civil case 

judgement dated 5 May 2011 issued by the Intermediate People’s Court of Wuhan City, Hubei 

Province, the PRC（中華人民共和國湖北省武漢市中級人民法院）(the “PRC Intermediate Court”), 

pursuant to which the PRC Intermediate Court accepted the plaintiff’s application to withdraw 

its claim against IMC and a former subsidiary of the Group for an outstanding investment fund of 

RMB20 million together with the interests of RMB21.63 million due to seeking for new evidence by 

the plaintiff. In September 2012, IMC further exchanged evidence in court. Up to the date of this 

report, there is no further update from the PRC Intermediate Court.

Based on the legal opinion of the Group’s PRC legal advisors, the directors of the Company are 

of the opinion that the action can be successfully defended and therefore no provision has been 

made in the financial statements.

(b) In 2011, WHM (an indirectly 51%-owned subsidiary of the Company) received a civil case 

judgement issued by the People’s Court of Jianhan District, Wuhan City, Hubei Province, the PRC

（中華人民共和國湖北省武漢市江漢區人民法院）(the “PRC Court”), pursuant to which the PRC 

Court mandatorily enforced WHM to repay certain claimants against Wuhan Huaxin Real Estate 

Co., Ltd. (“WHRED”, the Group’s available-for-sale investment) amounted to RMB11,660,173 

(approximately HK$14,020,000) (the “Compensation”) and executed to debit the sums directly 

from WHM’s bank account. WHM has already filed a written objection with the PRC Court to 

challenge against both the judgement and the mandatory execution for the reason that WHM was 

not a directly related company to WHRED.

Based on the legal opinion from the Group’s PRC legal advisors, the directors of the Company are 

of the opinion that WHM should not be liable for any repayment liabilities incurred by WHRED since 

both WHM and WHRED are separate entities under the PRC law and should not have any joint and 

several liabilities. Therefore, WHM should have the right to claim against the PRC Court for refund 

of the full amount. Since the outcome of the claim for the refund is uncertain, the Compensation 

paid was charged to the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2011.
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the 

following material transactions with related parties during the year:

(a) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Group

2012 2011
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Property management fee received from  
the jointly-controlled entity (i) 3,582 3,489

Purchases from Hualing Steel (ii) 3,971 4,598
Logistics services fee charged by  

Lianyuan Logistics (iii) 9,952 10,697
Rental expenses paid to  

the ultimate holding company (iv) 800 800
Financial guarantee expense paid to  

Beijing Junefield Sogo Department Store 
(“Beijing Junefield Sogo”) (v) 348 945

Financial guarantee expense paid to  
Lianyuan Steel (v) 348 945

Rental income from Junefield Group S.A.C. (vi) – 518
Rental income from Beijing Junefield Sogo (vii) 434 –

Notes:

(i) The Group provided WPM, a jointly-controlled entity of the Group, with property management services, for 

which a property management fee of approximately HK$3,582,000 (2011: HK$3,489,000) was charged.

(ii) Pursuant to the Joint Venture Agreement, the minority shareholder of Hunan Taiji procured Hualing Steel to 

enter into the materials supply agreement with Hunan Taiji to supply granulated steel slag to Hunan Taiji at a 

unit price of RMB4 per ton (Value Added Tax (VAT) inclusive). The unit material price was determined at the 

time of entering into the Joint Venture Agreement to establish Hunan Taiji.

(iii) Lianyuan Steel, being the holding company of the minority shareholder of Hunan Taiji, has beneficial 

interests in Lianyuan Logistics. Pursuant to the logistics services agreement in relation to the transportation 

of granulated steel slag, the logistics services fee was determined on an annual basis between Hunan Taiji 

and Lianyuan Logistics with reference to the prevailing market price of similar transportation services. The 

outstanding balance with Lianyuan Logistics is included in accounts payable and disclosed in note 31 to the 

financial statements.
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv) Rental expenses paid to the ultimate holding company, the monthly rentals were mutually agreed between the 

contracting parties.

(v) Pursuant to the loan agreement dated 21 January 2009 entered into between Hunan Taiji and a bank in 

the PRC, a bank loan of RMB100 million was advanced by the bank to Hunan Taiji and is repayable on or 

before 27 December 2013 (the “Loan”). Beijing Junefield Sogo (a company of which Mr. Zhou Chu Jian 

He, the director of the Company, has control over its operations and financial activities) and Lianyuan Steel 

had been providing guarantees in favour of the bank for the provision of the Loan to Hunan Taiji previously. 

On 15 October 2010, Hunan Taiji has subsequently entered into the guarantee fee agreements with Beijing 

Junefield Sogo and Lianyuan Steel respectively, pursuant to which Hunan Taiji has agreed to pay a guarantee 

fee equivalent to 1% on the outstanding Loan amount to each of Beijing Junefield Sogo and Lianyuan Steel 

in return for the guarantees provided by them in favour of the bank for the provision of the Loan during the 

guarantee period under the Loan agreement which is from 21 January 2009 to 27 December 2013. The 

guarantee fees are calculated on a half-yearly basis in arrears and payable in cash until the Loan is fully 

repaid. Hunan Taiji is not required to provide any security over its assets in return for the above financial 

assistance provided by Beijing Junefield Sogo and Lianyuan Steel.

(vi) Rental income received or receivable from Junefield Group S.A.C., a company incorporated in Peru in which 

100% of its registered capital is effectively owned by JHL, the monthly rentals were mutually agreed between 

the contracting parties.

(vii) Rental expenses received or receivable from Beijing Junefield Sogo, the monthly rentals were mutually agreed 

between the contracting parties.

(b) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL OF THE GROUP

Group 

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Short term employee benefits 2,480 1,945

Post-employment benefits 27 27

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 2,507 1,972

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 11 to the financial statements.
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42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a) On 28 January 2013, the Group entered into a loan agreement with a borrower and provided the 

borrower with a loan in the sum of HK$17,000,000. The loan bears interest at 1% per month, 

secured by personal guarantee and is repayable in November 2013.

(b) On 30 January 2013, the Company announced that Genuine Crystal Limited (“Genuine Crystal”), 

an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with  

Mr. Ma Man Shing (the “Vendor”), pursuant to which the Vendor conditionally agreed to 

sell and Genuine Crystal conditionally agreed to purchase the entire issued share capital of 

Mighty Comforts Limited (“Mighty Comforts”), a company incorporated in the BVI with limited 

liability, at a consideration of US$2,841,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$22,018,000). On 

30 January 2013, Profit Land Property Development PROLANDPRO S.A. (“Profit Land”), a 

company incorporated in Ecuador with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary 

of Mighty Comforts, entered into an agreement with Officers Club of the Ecuadorian Air Force 

(“AFOC”), pursuant to which Profit Land purchased a parcel of land in Ecuador from AFOC at a 

consideration of US$12,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$96,875,000).

Completion of the aforesaid acquisition took place on 25 March 2013. Following the completion of 

the acquisition, the Company indirectly owns the entire equity interest in Mighty Comforts and its 

subsidiaries, which in turn indirectly holds the benefits and interests in the land in Ecuador. As of 

the date of approval of these financial statements, management of the Group is still in the midst of 

determining the financial effect of the aforesaid acquisition.
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PARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

 

 

Location Gross floor area Category of the lease Use

Units 708, 731, 732, Approximately 745 sq.m. Land use rights Commercial

734, 735, 1132, for 50 years from

1510 and 1516 of 22 March 1994

Junefield Plaza Office Tower l,

No. 6 Xuan Wu Men Wai

Main Street, Beijing,

the PRC.

Office Units 725-729 on Level 7 Approximately 744 sq.m. Land use rights Commercial

and 917 on Level 9, for 50 years from

Junefield Plaza Office Tower II, 22 March 1994

No. 10 Xuan Wu Men Wai

Main Street, Beijing,

the PRC.



FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
 
 

132 Junefield Department Store Group Limited
Annual Report 2012

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RESULTS

Year ended 31 December

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

REVENUE 208,508 261,780 213,070 120,006 32,095

Operating profit 59,170 64,725 45,337 22,412 13,231
Finance costs (1,297) (8,401) (7,943) (3,180) (6,456)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – – 165 18,454 –
Share of profit of a jointly-controlled 

entity 146,464 137,829 96,980 86,093 88,205

Profit before tax from continuing 
operations 204,337 194,153 134,539 123,779 94,980

Income tax (19,472) (30,826) (15,013) (9,911) (2,908)

Profit for the year from continuing 
operations 184,865 163,327 119,526 113,868 92,072

Loss for the year from a 
discontinued operation – – – – (1,589)

Profit for the year 184,865 163,327 119,526 113,868 90,483

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 165,324 140,144 104,903 108,692 90,483
Non-controlling interests 19,541 23,183 14,623 5,176 –

184,865 163,327 119,526 113,868 90,483

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
At 31 December

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 235,592 250,328 236,494 202,250 2,727
Investment properties 47,765 40,332 30,645 16,988 16,986
Prepaid land lease payments 24,450 24,811 23,977 553 548
Other intangible assets 152,048 147,879 151,220 159,677 –
Deposit for acquisition of  

land use rights – – – 9,625 –
Investment in  

a jointly-controlled entity 187,957 148,996 83,554 82,104 219,610
Available-for-sale investments 48,448 – – – –
Net current assets/(liabilities) 125,797 80,315 73,881 52,884 (139,389)
Non-current liabilities (68,958) (66,962) (110,895) (136,110) (9,575)
Non-controlling interests (139,594) (118,811) (112,536) (95,613) –

Equity attributable to owners of  
the Company 613,505 506,888 376,340 292,358 90,907
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